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Baraboo's Growing
Pains and Terrible
Teens

Tales of Earlier Baysg
By Bob Dewel

This is the final article to be based
on the Virgil Cady scrapbooks of 1912-
1918. The clippings he saved have
given us a microcosm of life nearly 100
years ago in Baraboo. it was a time
when the old had to give way to the
new.

We've already written about the
great telephone contfroversy, the
proposed electric train line, the
elimination of horse-drawn fire wagons in
favor of an auto fire truck, and how it
took a legislative act to keep the circus
in Baraboo in 1912.

Because ! have written
extensively in the past about the
introduction of electricity {lI-11,23 and
Viil-26), the struggle with  major
corporations is not repeated here.
Suffice to say that the city was in and
out of the power and gas business.
Dams on the river supplied the early
power needs but were unable to meet
the growing demand. It was time of
growing pains for the emerging city.

Horse drowns on Washington St.

It was also a time comparable to
the “terrible Teens” which can make life
miserable for young people. There are
stories which do not merit a full article,
but deserve at least a mention. For
example, the horse was still a major
means of fransportation and field work.
We complain about our streets today,
but look what happened to Rev. Beyer
of the German Methodist Church.

On a cold February day in 1916
he was returning on his horse from
ministerial duties in Greenfield, He turned
onto Washington Street, the street
bordering the fair grounds on the west.
This street did not yet have storm sewer

apparently, and “The horse broke
through the ice and into about two feet
of water. The horse’s head went under
the ice, and before help could reach
him he was dead”. Actudlly this was a
time of major improvement in the city
infrastructure, with the City Council
continually occupied with sewers,
paving, garbage, and yes, sidewalks.
The schools

The school situation was different
then. Only the city operated high
schools, directly under the jurisdiction of
the city Council. Only the city’'s citizens
paid school taxes at that time. The
school Board was simply a commission
reportable to and appointed by the city
council. it took an ad hoc locai
organization, the Guardians of Liberty, to
demand an election in April, 1916, with
the School Board members elected by
popular vote.

Meantime, the city won a law
suit against the builders of the red brick
high school on Oak and Second Streefs.
Local persons that attended there may
not know that the building was at one
time virtually condemned  during
construction. Foors were already
settling, an arch fell down, and joists
sagged and had to be propped up, etc.

Built in 1906-07, lawsuits dragged
on until 1912, when the city won a
lawsuit and was paid the grand sum of
$87.50 and all costs by the architects.
Within 20 years of its construction it was
replaced with a new high school,
though the red brick school continued
to serve until sometime in the 1940’s.
One gets the feeling that cheapness
was a priority in 1906. The building was
built for only $75, 000 after several cuts
had been made. Schools are not the
place to be cheap.

Speeding over the High Bridge.

Speaking of lawsuits, the city and
the state clashed on what seems like a
simple local issue. |t appears that the
High Bridge was not the sturdy structure
that its massive structure presented. The
ordnance is not dated., but the City
Council, in its wisdom, passed an
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ordinance restricting the speed of
teams, autos, and any means of
transportation to ten miles per hour,
since greater speeds would “subject the
structure to use and abuse." The fine
was from ten to One Hundred dollars,
with a possible jail sentence of six
months.

A man named Dwyer contested
the Ordinance, and Judge O’'Neil
decided with him, declaring the
ordinance void. He reasoned that it
was a matter of state reguiation, not
local. The matter went to the State
Supreme Court, arguments being
presented by City Attorney Virgil Cady,
keeper of these scrapbooks.
Unfortunately Cady lost the case, the
court ruling that 15 mph, not 10 mph,
was acceptable. Curiously, the court
ruled that automobiles could not be
regulated speed, but that horse-drawn
rigs could be!

These were times hard to
imagine today. Women were still
angling to get the vote. The salary of
the Police Chief for one month was $65.
“Silent Policemen” were installed at
downtown intersections, requiring
exaggerated left turns. An audit
revealed a scandal in the city treasurer's
department. But two momentous
occurrences created hardly a ripple at
the time: the dwindling use of Baraboo
as a railroad division point, and the
losses of the Golimar Circus in 1916 and
the Ringling Circus in 1918. These
industrial blows would stymie city growth
for well over a decade—it is said that
the Depression started in Baraboo in
1918. Growing pains indeed!

Bob Dewel’s newest
book, Tales of Earlier Days, is

now for sale from the
author, or at the Booksmith. h

Itis available in either soft
cover at $24.50 or red
hardcover AT $49.50,
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New street lights once
prompted parades

Editor’s note: This article is
being reprinted because the
wrong photograph was
included when the article
first was published.

Though chilly, the evening
of Dec. 8, 1913 featured an
event that brought most resi-
dents of the young city of
Baraboo down to the
Courthouse Square. At last,
Baraboo was to have a real
street lighting system, like
Chicago and Milwaukee.

“The night was turned into
day” gushed the Evening
News, as the boulevard
lights were switched on,
crowds extended from the.
city hall all around the court-
house square. Baraboo had
gone from gas to electricity
and gas and finally to all
electricity.

Festivities began at 8 p.m.,
with a procession of 1913
automobiles headed by the
brand new fire truck.
Motorized fire protection had
also just come to Baraboo.

The Baraboo Marine Band
played, rather shakily we
assume, from the bed of a
1913 truck, which was fol-
lowed by cars with city .
fathers, members of the
Commercial Association, the
Women’s Civic League and
other interested citizens.

After a tour into the resi-
dential areas in all direc-
tions, the entourage stopped
at Oak Street where the
band played as best they
could with cold reeds and
mouthpieces, and speeches
were given. Some of the jit-
neys were decorated, one
with a proud banner reading
“Beautiful Baraboo.” Mrs.
Della (Alfred T)) Ringling had
arranged the decorating as
founder of the Women’s Civic
League.

T Edward Mead, whose
daughters live in Mauston
today, was secretary of the
Commercial Association and a5
spoke of the benefits. tp the
commivnity-which wouid
come with the riew improve-
ment. His stellar committee,
consisting of names impor-
tant in the community at the
time, had worked hard, rais-
ing some $4000 to pay for
many of the iron poles,
underground cables, and
installation costs. This seems
a bargain, since the new
poles installed in 1998 cost
$1350 each.

_Dr. E.G. Thuerer, the seem-
Ingly ever-present mayor in
those days, thanked the busi-
nessmen for the “beautiful
and brilliant illumination
which the city now has.”

Actually, Thuerer had
urged the city to get going on
lights the previous January,
and also included a request
that the city buy a motorized
fire truck, “as we have for
some time been hampered in
securing tearns (of horses) to
go to fires.”

The installation

The city’s electrical power
in those days came from the
private Baraboo Gas &
Electric Company, with its
generators powered by the
Baraboo River.

Installation of the street
lighting included 98 iron post
hights downtown, 247 con-
crete post lights and 129 cen-
ter support lights, lighting
not only the business section
but residential areas as well.
What's more, the new lights
would burn all night at a
cost to the taxpayers of
$10,000 per year.

One pole remains today. It
is located on private property
on the southwest corner of
6wk and 10th Avenue in
Baraboo. -

It is interesting that this
type of major city improve-
ment got so much attention
in those days while lighting
improvements get so little
now. The recent installation
of some 130 new streetlights
in the business section in
1998 merited no parade, no
speeches, and no public
thanks to the many busi-
nesses and individuals who

contribnied to their installa-

‘tior. Add the band aidn’t-
play. -

It appears that the 1913
lights replaced a helter-skel-
ter mix of electric arc and
gas lights. The 1913 lights
were replaced in the 1950’s
by two story iron poles — the
street lighting fad at the
time which lacked the attrac-
tiveness of the concrete poles
that chart out the tic-tac-toe
nature of Baraboo’s down-
town district. It must be an
interesting sight from a
plane.

Change always brings
change. and in the case of
the Baraboo streetlights. an
ordinance had to be passed
establishing a fine for any
person who tied their horse
to a light pole. The fee was
Fve dollars, plus the cost of
putting the horse into one of
the local livery stables until
it was claimed. The situation
was not all that different
from cars being hauled away
today and owners having to
reclaim them. But today’s
fine is more than five dollars.
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ﬁlad Shout Goes

"10‘n' Moves,
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: SPEEGHES FOLLOW

lmprovement Due to Ac-
|« tivities of the Baraboo
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: .- Certaloly fine!

!“4 "B-e-a-u-t-i-f-u-i!

¥ A great shout went up.

% “Phen the band played merrily.

§ .The sutomoblle processton moved.

lr;_ Bpeeches and more music followed.

5 ‘The night was turned Into day aad ||
amboo rej nced

Commercial Club,

“when Streets
are’ llluminated,

the Band

UD,

The above in brief i3 thé proggam on

“;Monday night when the pew boula-'

Wward lights were turned on in the busi-
ness section of the city. A greas crowd
‘gathered in the neighbocthood of the
cny hall, around the public square

-and along al! of the principal &streets
. to see the demonstration. At eight
o'clock the long procession of s#uto-

- 4nobiles formed, headed by the new

fire truck and other trucks bearing
the Baraboo Mariae band, followed by

! eats with vhe city officials, members

of the Baraboo (Commercial associa-
tion, the Woman'ds Civie league and
<citizeas.  When the lights flashed on
the automobiles moved along Fourth,
Broadway and Fifth avenue, to the

i west part of the city, then to the east,

north and south sections, The me-
chines stopped on Oak streel opgposite
the pubilla square where th and
played and where the addresses were
glven. Many of the cars were deco-
rated and one bore the words:

+
LA
VB
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Mead,

HOthmities on Advertising—G. W
Brnnuohweller, ‘Faul. Gust, © Klme
' Boovllle,T F. Risley. .
Musle—Attornev J. W. Frenz.
Thd above were assisted by W. T
Marriott, P. Lind, T. BEiw. Mead, E.
H. Johnston and others.

By the Mayor

i Mayor G. T. Thuerer fellowed by
‘acceptlng the system on behalf of the
city and thanked those who had alded
'ln the improvemsnt. He also predict-
‘eq that great advancement would re-
“sult from the instailatlion of the lights.
1éEle spoke of the valucof & communlt.y{
-working together and assured lns

I hearers that it was the resalt ot the'
* BEAUTIFUL BARABOO. fmhrlbuuons of the local firma thatall
jenjoyed thes beautiful "and brilllany

which the city now;

i

" Those who had charge "of the]

exercises of the evening'weie W. E.

Automobile commitiee—~L. 8. Van

Rowland, marshall; G. 'W. Brunseh-
Orden and Thomas M. Mould,

weiler and W, E. Baringer.

-----------------------------------

e irseevrerassecatnesannn sesecarenean . *{llumination
Four of the mutomablles were ea.|Prasessed.
pecially decorated for the Womun's.l
‘Clvio league; thers was a four horse.
team which carried jthe junior mem-
bers and their band foliowed by an-

By the Company

Fraok R. Grover of Chicago spoke
--of the appreclation the cowmpany falt

in the aid that had been given and for
the demonstiration of the evenlng. He
also epoke of the good work done by
| George 1. McFarland and that his
services had been highly Bsatisfactory.
In the future the plany wiil be under
the direcsinon of Eari Potter, who will
be here but a portion of the ttme,
' Theodore Durst of Wankegan sccom:
' panied Mr. Grover,

other eonveyance with a number of]
-other janiors. Mrs. Della Riogling,
.4he founder of the leagae, alded ener-°
-getically in arranging this part of tbe:
parade. The automoblles extended
for many blooks.

|

i The Addresses
I

; T. Edw. Mead, secretary of the Bar-
aboo Commercial association, in his
'address told of the work of the organi- |

tlon In perfecting the plans for the ' The Baraboo Commercial association
system, thanked the business flrmas} llded greatly in bringing about the
for the generoslty extended by them _ boule"rd system of lightlng. Con-
and predicted that great benefits *{ributions were made by the bosiness
would come from the advertising that | irms, the connty beard and the Bara-
the new lighting system assured. The |boo Gas & Electric company for the
committee of the Baraboo Commercial

The New System.

lightsin the businesa seotton. Tho
associstion which has had charge of [iron posts, underground cables and
! the task for the organization consisted |installing cost about $4,000. The

' of B, 8. Johnston, the former presl-|most of this money was subscribed by
dent; L. B. VanOrden, the present|[the Haraboo business firmas.
1presldent G. W. Brunschweller, Peter | whole sgatem Incindes:

‘Llnd W. T. Marriots lnd T. Edw.} u8iron post lights.

247 conerete poat lights.
- 129 center support lights.

Bud Cady Collectlon

The -
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Fire Trucks and

Sirensin 1912

Talesg of Earlier Days
By Bob Dewel

Have you noficed the 2’ x 2
brass bell displayed on the front facade
of the City Hall2 Is it truly possible that
this relatively modest object actually
could be heard throughout the city, and
alerted firemen in 19122  Why didn’t
they have our all too familiar and
beloved (2) siren which now shrilly
demands our attention?

Take yourself back to 1912. You
are relaxed and reading the Republic,
when you hear a very distant bell,
(housed then in the old city hall tower),
ringing vigorously.  All bells have their
own tonal quality, and you dalready
know the tone of each church's bell.
But this tone is different. This bell rings for
a fire, serious business in those times.

The Different Signals

You listen carefully, for the
Republic has just informed you about
the new fire alert system being
inaugurated.  First, if you hear just two
strikes, that means the police patrolman
is called to report in—so this may not be
a fire. But "Hark—it is still inging—It is a
firel” you realize. You quickly read from
the Republic as follows:

“"When a person desires to give
an alarm of fire, he should telephone to
Centfral (telephone  operator)...the
operator (but not Central, we presume)
will give...several strokes of the bell,
foliowed by a signal denoting the
number of the Ward where the fire is
located.  First Ward, one tap. Second
Ward, two taps. Third Ward, three taps."”

You know what comes next,
One hears the frantic clatter of shooed
horse hooves as nearby teamsters spur
their steeds to the fire shed behind the
City Hall. Here, in a flurry of inefficiency,

the first team to arrive gets to hook up
the hose wagon and galiop off to the
fre, which by now is burning
dangerously. This must have been the
scene when the Opera House burned in
1905, on the NW corner of Oak Street
and Fifth Avenue.
The Mayor Speaks

This was state of the art in small
rural cities and towns in 1912, but it was
about to change. Before the year was
out, the ubiquitous Mayor, Dr. Thuerer,
will inform the City Council that
“something must be done in the near
future...so next vyear...funds wil be
provided to carry this work to a
successful conclusion”.

True to his word the progressive
mayor told the council that teams were
no longer readily available, and "it is
high time the department be made
adequate to meet the needs of the
city”. In an astonishing proposal, he
suggested, that, in 1913, the city equip
the fire department "with an auto fire
truck...these machines are so perfected
that they are thoroughly dependable”.

Dr. Thuerer was apparently a
persuasive leader, for by 1914 “there
was a decided improvement in the fire
department by the purchase of a new
auto fire truck and hose equipment.”
We find no additional references to fire
trucks until 1918, By then we read that
Dr. Thuerer’s “highly perfected auto fire
truck” was replaced with a new auto fire
truck--this one a Hook and Ladder rig!

Think of these fire trucks, however
as enhanced pre WWI Model T Fords or
other makes of vehicle, not the
behemoths of today. But here is a
surprising fact: the 1913 Fire Truck was
constructed right in Baraboo! The
builder was none other than Dr. Helm,
apparently having abandoned
veterinary medicine for the more
lucrative and glamorous occupation of
auto maker. Joe Ward, Baraboo’s
downtown expert, has shared in his new
book his considerable information on the
operation,
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Helm had a veterinary office at
619 Oak Street, behind the Warren Hotel,
in 1904. It was converted to a garage in
1910. His first two ton truck sported a 35
HP engine, selling at the astronomical
price of $2000. Ward, in his book,
reports an interesting set of experiments
regarding the strength and pulling
power of the truck. In 1913 the Council
authorized a twin chain-drive 60 HP
motor, geared to 25-30 mile per hour. 1t
included a 50 gallon chemical tank, with
room for two ladders and a hose basket,
etc.

The Republic duly reported the
purchase, stating “the trucks Dr. Helm
has sold locally are giving satisfaction
and the action of the councit in placing
the order with a local manufacturer is
commendable. Mr. Helm will provide
the city with a first-class fire fighting
vehicle, there is not a doubt”. This
appears to have been the 1913 vehicle.

Like a story earlier this month, this
arficle is taken from several pages of the
Virgil Cady scrapbooks, Cady being City
Attorney at the time. This is through the
courtesy of Virgil's grandson, Bud Cady,
who has made the stories available to
us. But there is another minor item along
the line of the city and fires that should
be mentioned, and it refers back to the
fire bell we mentioned at the beginning
of this article.

There is a birthday here. In 1918,
while expressing pleasure at the
purchase of a new fire truck, Thuerer (still
around and still Mayor) remarked that
"when the new siren is installed,
everything will be in excellent condition”
Notice the date, for there is a siren
birthday coming this yearl  Beginning
then, and for ninety years, that siren or a
successor has been regularly skirling its
piercing cry to distant parts of the city,
including everyone's ears. For many
years it did not sound for country fires,
but on Feb. 19, 1951 Chief
Rommelfanger announced that it would
now sound for all fire calls.

Originally installed for fires, the
siren is now used for tornado warnings

and national emergencies. In addition,
it is often now sounded for auto
accidents, where a fire truck goes in
case of gasoline spillage. Some people
question this additional use of the siren
for auto fires, since a couple of minutes
elapse from it's sounding to when a
truck is started up and leaves the station.
The trucks have their own sirens, which
can be used liberally, as do the
ambulances, which often are
dispaiched before the city siren even
sounds.

The siren’s frequent use for fires
has been food for discussion in at least
one coffee clutch within the city. Will
2008 see a happy 90" birthday
celebration for the siren, and a possible
restriction of its use? Incidentally |
checked on the meaning of Coffee
Clutch. It does not transiate directly
from the German term Kaffee Kiatch, for
Kiatch means gossip. Gossip certainly
does not occur in a local Coffee Clutch,
men's or women's does it¢
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Telephone
Yanked from
City Hall
Taleg From Earlier
Days

By Bob Dewel

A City Council is expected
(hopefully) to consist of not only
representatives of the people, but
statesmen solving local problems with
due wisdom and deliberation. Such is
not always the case, and in 1914 a feisty
council dueled with the Wisconsin
Telephone Company over a relatively
minor matter, the telephones in the City
Hall.

At one time the Baraboo City
Hall was reduced to one phone in the
outer hall, to be used for all fire calls,
police calls, and any other city business
required by the various offices in the
building! Actuaily the phone was free of
charge, due to an agreement made in
1903, and due to expire in 1918.

The agreements

The first notice of telephone
problems came in 1912 when the ever-
vigilant city attorney, Virgil Cady,
requested regular noftification from the
state regulatory agency of any actions
by the new state-wide telephone
company. There was no indication of
the storm ahead until Feb. 12, 1914
when respected local attorney Evan
Evans, representing the Telephone
Company, stated that it was unlawful for
the company to give out free telephone
service, and that they were requesting
payment.

The free phone agreement,
dated form 1903, was with the old
Baraboo Telephone Company, which
later had merged with the Wisconsin

Telephone Company. The courts had
now held, in a Kenosha case, that it was
against pubiic interest for the company
to offer free service. The city held,
however, that the agreement was valid.
Actually the city had six free phones,
four with the four city schoolhouses and
one at the library, as well as the city hall
free phone.
Headlines

The matter made headlines on
April 8 and 10, 1914, when newspaper
subscribers read “Take telephone from
city hall”, and "City may clash with
Telephone Co.” Because of the
impasse the Telephone Company had
exercised its supposed right to remove
the free phone in the Police department
office, a right supposedly guaranteed
for four more years. This was considered
an aoffront to the city's original
agreement with the predecessor
telephone company, and the council
resolved to resist the change.

Cady made his case by citing a
related court decision in 1909. and he
claimed for the city that the 1909
decision applied. In the following week,
Justice Stevens issued an injunction
forbidding the telephone company from
removing the phones until the matter
was settled,

Just what transpired in the
meantime is not reported in the Cady
scrapbooks on city affairs. It developed
that there actually were four phones in
the City Hall. On April 18 a vindictive
City Council ordered them removed,
leaving but one phone to serve all of the
offices. Was this to spite the Telephone
Company?

Agreement?

Apparently wisdom prevailed
now, for Cady reported a compromise
in which the free phone would remain
for two years instead of the four
remaining years on the old contract,
The compromise was referred to a
committee of the City Council, but here
it stalled, the council apparently stil
bristing at the affront. The committee
submitted a complicated report,
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In Spring, a Man'’s
Fancy Turns to—Taxes

Tales From Earlier Baps
By Bob Dewel

What is 94 years old, returns
every year in April, and is dreaded and
sometimes cursed by many of us¢ Hint:
April 15 is the deadline for your “return”.
It is, of course, the Income Tax return,
both Federal and State. They affect
nearly everyone in their pocketbook, but
without it our governments could not
exist. More on that later.

The 1913 Tax Form

It began in 1913, and a copy of
the original tax form is featured on this
page thanks to Jemy McCammond, a
local tax preparation expert and
merchant. There is one thing about the
IRS, they are consistent in names, for it is
stilt labeled as Form 1040. In bold black
letters, the taxpayer is warned that
“failure to have this in the hands of the
Collector of Internal Revenue on of
before March 1, 1914 could result in a
fine from $20 up to $1000".

It is called a “return” of annual
income of individuals, which has often
puzzled this writer. Does this mean that it
has been somewhere else, and is being
retumed to its rightful  owner?
Incidentally, laws took effect rapidly on
those ancient days, for the law was
passed on Oct 3, 19213, and on March 1
of 1914 you paid the tax on ¢ months of
1913. For some reason, only ¢ months of
that year were to be taxed.

Figuring the tax

The form seems simple enough.
After listing your gross income and
subtracting “General Deductions”, you
have net income. Then you are
dllowed to exclude certain dividends
and net earnings from corporations!
There is also a mysterious deduction of
“$3000 or $4000 as the case may be",
and this is subtracted from your net
income.
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Figuring the tax, you are told that
the tax will be 1% of that figure, unless it
is over $20,000, a very rare income in
1913. Actudlly the tax rate seems to be
1% up to $50,000, 2% of the next $25,000,
and so on up to the horrendous rate of
6% in the haif milion dollar income
range! There were few individuals in
that bracket in those days, though the
system must have snared the tax-hating
Ringling Brothers and also some of the
greedy robber-barons of the railroad
and steel industries. '

The tax form seems quite
straightforward. The honest man finds
his classification and pays his tax, willing
to pay his share for the benefits of
citizenship in a great and powerful
nation—the very system that made his
good fortune possible. But why has the
tax system become so complicated
now, with its thousands of pages of
regulations, and requiring thousands of
tax specialists to guide citizens through
the red tape?

Well, there is a reason. Qver the
years unscrupulous men, often affiuent,
found ways to beat the system,
loopholes with which to preserve their
wealth—they never have enough, it
seems. The Government, seeing a fair
share of the proceeds of taxation
unfairly lost, stepped in o plug the leaks
and loopholes.  The result was pages
and pages of rules and regulations
which we have today.

Why an income tax?

So why do we have an income
tax anyway? Trouble is, a Sales Tax is
inherently unfair to the lower income
and younger taxpayer, A tax thatis a
significant part of the budget of the
young and poor is a hardly noticeable
figure in the financial report of an
affluent person. Another tax, the
Corporation Tax, is said to simply be
passed on to the consumer. This is a
hollow argument when one reads of the
gigantic profits and exorbitant salaries
paid to the top echelon people in major
industries.
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10 RE FILLED IN BY COLLECTOR. Form 1040, T0 BE FILLER. IN BY INTERNAL REVENDE BOREAC.
List Ho. wooooreee. INCOME TAX. File Wo.
i THE PENALTY .
T District of FOR FAILURE TO MAVE THIS RETURN IN Assessment List
. THE HANDS OF THE COLLECTOR OF .
Dals recerved - INTERNAL REVENUE ON OR BEFORE Page Line

MARCH ¢ IS $20 YO $1,000.

(S8 INSTRUCTIONS ON PAGE 4.)

UNITED STATES INTERNAL REVENUE.

RETURN OF ANNUAL NET INCOME OF INDIVIDUALS.

(As provided by Act of Congress, approved October 3, 1913.)

RETURN OF NET INCOME RECEIVED OR ACCRUED DURING THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 191__.

(FOR THE YEAR 1913, FROM MARCH 1, TO DECEMBER 31.)

Filed by (or for) of ...

(Full pamse of individusl.)

& the Cily, Town, or Post Office Of -----eeeeeomcaeeeoannnes Stale of

(¥ill In pages 2 and 8 balore making entries below.)

(Btrest and No.)

1 Guoas INCOME (800 Page 2, 1ine 12) ... . .ucuceliocmee cveecnnonsasccecasacaconss neaanneaseons $

3. Genxmay Depuctions (see page 8, 1ine 7) oo coeoanenceceesccrancomramcaemsnnracacanases $

R ONEL TROOME . .o oo e et e et e eacecm s comnccemmensesencene seanmesmeos omennn $

Deductlons and exemptions allowed In computing income subject to the normal tax of 1 per cent.

4. Dividends and net earnings received or accrued, of corpora-
tions, etc., subject to like tax. (See page 2, line 11)......... $

8. Amount of income on which the normal tax has been deducted
and withheld at the source. (See page 2, line 9, column A).

6. Specific exemption of $3,000 or $4,000, as the case may be.
(Bee Instructions 3and 19) ... ccoenivmmer ccceracnremann

Total deductions and exemptions. (Items 4, 5, and 6)........ $

7. Taxasiz INcous on which the normal tax of 1 per cent is to be calculated. (See Instruction 8).| $

8. When the net Income shown above on line 3 exceeds $20,000, the additional tax the_reon must be calculated as per schedule belows -

INOCOME, TAX.
1 per cent on amount over $20,000 and not exceeding $50,000....{ § $
3 ' «“ 50,000 . o 75,000....
3 s “ 75,000 ’" " 100,000. ...
4 u “ 100,000 ¢ “ 250,000....
5 ¢ ¢ 250,000 " ¢ 500,000. ...
6 « “ 600,000 oo cc e ceiececeeanaae
Total additional or super taxX . v cecme e icecciaran cman $ —
Total normal tax (1 per cent of amount entered on line 7)..... $
Total tax Hability ... . e e rncccraecaoen $







That leaves the Income Tax, a
burden small or non-existent to those
struggling up the ladder of success, and
not too burdensome for the more
affluent, who made their money under
our capitdlistic system. The latter can
escape the state tax, at least, by
changing their residence to a state
without an income tax (though other
factors may mitigate that “gain”). Since
much of our state tax revenues revert
back to our local schools, it could be
said that moving the residence to
another state denies critical support to
the community where one made his
money.

The National debt

Modern government, if a nation
is tfo survive in a cut throat world of
competing governments, must have the
resources to not only defend itseif but to
offer its citizens, regardiess of financial
situation, the benefits of modern
medical science and other advances of
civilization. I've lost the source, but
someone claimed that in 1981, when
Ronald Reagan became President, the
national debt was already high—so high
that if you divided it into $1000 bills and
piled them on top of each other, they
would stand 6.5 Miles talll

By 2004, due to Reaganomics
and the Gulf War, the debt had grown
so much that if it were divided into $1000
bills and piled on top of each other, the
stack would be 510 miles high! We don't
even want to think how high the pile is
now, thanks to Irag. Only two Presidents
in the past 40 years have paid down
part of the debt—Presidents Clinton and
possibly Nixon. Today our national debt
is $8,781,499,592,920, up from 5.6 trillion
when George Bush took office.

it would seem, then, that the
astute 1913 legislators, in establishing a
tax weighted to one’s financial status,
made a vdliant effort to provide the
revenues need for modern government.
Their plan, the graduated income tax,
has survived for 94 vyears despite
necessary and sometimes burdensome
tinkering—or tweaking, to use a more
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contemporary term. They never
envisioned, however, today’s excessive
national debt.

Some will say this country was
founded on a beflief in no taxation. Not
true. The colonists, in their legisiatures,
levied many taxes, including some to
support the French and Indian War.
What the Colonists did object to was
taxation by a Parliament in which they
did not hold even one seat. The
Revolution solved that problem, but as
Ben Franklin said, Death and Taxes are
always with us.

| know people who are proud to
have earned enough to share some of
their monetary gains with  their
community, both through taxes and
gifts. They consider it a sign that they
have been successful citizens. However
you may feel about that, here's Many
Happy Tax Retums to ALL, and to ALL a
Successful New Tax Yeart And, don't try
to use the 1913 1040 form!

!
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Propose Two
More Rail Lines
to City
Wales of Earlier
Days

By Bob Dewel

This is a long infroduction, but it
sets the stage for a startling proposal. By
1913, the Baraboo Vdlley and its villages
were a prosperous and productive areq,
important to the State. Two
developments were especially
significant in the prosperity of the area.
Not to be overiook is one industry of
which we have written in the past, and
will not dwell upon today, namely the
remarkable emergence of the circus,
both Golmar ad Ringling, Seasonal
work was supplied in the winter months
to the farm population, leaving the men
free for work in the fields while the
circuses were away in summer.

The other principal spur to
prosperity had been the arrival of the
Northwestern Railroad in 1871, rescuing
the beautiful valley and its villages from
economic obscurity. Now ftrains, both
freight and passenger, roared through
the bowl shaped valley, belching black
smoke but bringing jobs and progress to
the tranquil area, once doomed to
insignificance had the rails not arrived.

The proposal

We don't always give them
credit, but there were smart business
men in those days, several of whom had
achieved modest wealth in retail or
service industries in Baraboo. Assessing
the situation, they proposed that though
the Northwestern was a huge success, it
and most Wisconsin rail lines were
oriented to the northwest, the Minnesota
Twin Cities. The saying until recently was

“You can't get to lowa or Southern
Minnestoa from here". Appleton-Green
Bay areas were difficult to reach also.

We don't know whether the
proposal came from the Viroqua-
Cashton area or from Baraboo, but
several men with means now proposed
an electric railway from Cashton to
Baraboo and on to Portage. The
electric idea had a lot of appeal—no
belching smoke, thanks to adequate
poser from the new dams appearing at
Kilbourn (W Dells) and Prairie du Sac.
This was no fly-by night proposition, and
capitalization was set at a million dollars,
back when an milion dollars meant
something. The line would be both
passenger and freight.

A rairoad Hub

All of this was learned from a
1914 clipping from the newspaper by
City Attorney Virgl Cady, whose
scrapbook of city affairs 1912-1917 was
lent to us by Bud Cady, his Grandson.
There weren't many clips on this matter,
but it developed that another line was
to be built also, this one from Plain to
Baraboo via Devils Lake, and then on to
the rail connection at Kilbourn. Baraboo
would be the hub, with connections to
service on the Northwestern Line aiso.
Baraboo would be a railroad hub city no
less.

This was a serious proposal,
backed by some of the heavy hitters in
Baraboo at the time: T.F. Risley, W.T.
Marriott, T. Edward Mead, J.W. Frenz, F.J.
Effinger, P. Lind, W.E. Roland, and G.W.
Brunschweler. Other investors,
presumably from Cashton and Plain
provided additional backing. Foreign
(European) money was also involved.

Overpassses on Lake and Walnut

Little is known of progress on the
plans until two City Ordnance notices
appear in the paper, numbers 409 and
413, dated Sept. 24, 1914, They allow
the rail company to build an overpass
on Lake Street “and over and across
Wainut Street”. There was a 20 foot wide
passageway on Lake for its auto and
team ftraffic. These ordnances,
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Man Finds Traffic
Rules

“Inconvenient”

in 1915

Tales of Earlier Bays
By Bob Dewel

This is the story of a local resident
who was hauled into court in 1915 for
disobeying the new traffic laws. His
defense was that he found the new
restrictions “inconvenient”. Let's set the
stage for the charges against him as
compared to today's regulations.

Traffic Laws Then and Now

Ever notice how well the signage
on our streets is displayed and
maintained today? Principal
thoroughfares have not only center lines,
but speed limits are indicated. Stop
lights regulate movement for all at
several intersections, parking and no
parking areas have signage and parking
stalls  indicated—well, you get the
picture.

it is generally conceded that
these signs and markings are for the
general good, and that traffic flows
faster and fairer for everyone. There are
ceriainly a few thousand of automobiles
in Baraboo, plus those of travelers and
business men and other visitors. Imagine
the chaos if none of the reguiations
existed.

Not so in 1915. The astonishing
total of perhaps a few hundred “flivvers"
were now chugging about on our city
streets, and competing for space at the
hitching rails. Baraboo had even been
the home of a few eary auto
companies, of which we have written
previously. There were almost no traffic
regulations, however, and the city
council had only recently passed the

modest regulations as proposed by
Councilman L.M. Moore.
The Violator's Defense

In an early test of the ordinance,
lceman August Platt had been fined
one dollar and costs. The exact nature
of the offense is not indicated, though
the Council had authorized the police to
request citizens "to stop on the right
hand side of the thoroughfare, and in
other ways obey the city law.”

Piatt disregarded an order,
hence the fine. In his defense he stated
that "it was often inconvenient to follow
the traffic rules”. The police ciaimed that
they had notified the proprietor of the
ice company, who ‘resented” the
request. To be fair, the horse-drawn ice
wagon was common on the streets
then, and probably weaved from side to
side depending on which side of the
street each delivery was to be made.
Apparently it was inconvenient to stay
on one side of the road, especially since
the horse knew only the side-to —side
route. After discussion, the council stood
by its ordinance, with one dissenting
vote. ,

Reedsburg Biue Laws

They then approved licenses for
eighteen saloons—three years before
the ill-fated Prohibition amendment was
tacked on to the Constitution. City
Councils then were strong on enforcing
the “blue Laws", in which government
often supported dictates of religious or
business conservatives. That same
summer, Reedsburg Mayor Seifert
brought charges against Hamry Rodems
of Rodems Fruit Store in that city.
Rodems had kept his store open on
Sunday despite what the paper cited
the ordinances of that city, as well as
Wisconsin Blue Laws. Three “big stores”
had complained, Rodems apparently
being the only establishment not
complying with the law.

In a separate news article a few
years later, Charles Wing reported that in
1855 his father, also named Charles, had
built a house at 120 Third Street,
{presently the Public Defender's Office),
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with a tailor shop in the front room.
Charles Wing Sr. told his son that due to
an especially rainy summer, hogs
wallowed in the mud on Third Street in
front of the house. He sated that his
sisters "had to gather their skirts close, or
they were liable to rub on some dirty
hogs." We gather that there were few if
any traffic regulations on Third Street at
that timel
Tax-exempt Property in Baraboo

On the same page: As
taxpayers, we often fail to realize how
much property goes untaxed. having
been declared religious or charitable or
governmental entities. Rarely if everis a
list of tax-exempt properties published,
but it was done in 1915 or 191é—the
paper is undated. There are 31 tax-
exempt  organizations listed, with
valuations that seem minute today.
Even so, the non-taxable Baraboo
entities totaled $662,000. The point of
the listing however, is the large amount
of property that was exempt from
property tax even then.

There were 16 religious
organizations not paying taxes, their
total 1915 valuations being $193,000.
Remember, these are 1915 doliars. Tax
exemption is a little appreciated
concession to the religions, mostly
Christian, in our nation. It adds up to
many multibillions of tax revenue denied
to our nation's budget over the
generations, but most people are willing
to accept this generous exception to
the principle of Separation of Church
and State.

Several non-religious charitable
organizations were included in the 1919
article also. The greatest individual
evaluations which were tax-exempt
went to the red brick High Schoot {long
gone now), at $120,000, and the
courthouse at $180,000. This is because
governmental units do not tax each
other. Imagine the chaos if they did!
We'd be taxing the fairgrounds, library,
city hall, jail, and even our parks!

Exempt also, of course, were all schools,
plus the courthouse and jail, the fair

grounds, library, city hall, and a few
charitable clubs.

It would be interesting to see a
list of the tax-exempt properties we have
today, and their valuations! Apparently
the assessor was required by law in those
days to produce a yearly list. Is he
supposed to do so today?

QUESTION OF
STREET TRAFFLC |
" BEFORE COUREL

, Op Thursday evening the question of
enforcing the ordinance in regard tol
street traflic was informally discussed |
by the members of the council, Abouti:
two years ago when L. M. Jacobs was
on the council he fathered an ordinance
to reguiate traffic and quite recently
the council passed a.resolution to have
the police department enforce it. The
police have given advice to many per-
sons and made requests that they stop
{on the right hand side of the thorough-
faresund in othér ways obey the city
law,

“Un Thursday &Eéxﬂ,_ﬂa’t} sppeared
hefore u justice where he was chargell
with disregarding the ordinance and
was ﬁ'ﬁm}e ap-
hined one |

peared befors the CONTEIT ARG slated his
case, claiming it wus often inconveniont
fo follow the traffic rules. The police
 claimed they had notified the proprietor
of the ice company who resented the
request, The whole matter was
gone over, but all the aldermen except|
one stnod hy the resolution as pusned.
They did not feel like making an excep-
tiorn and the mattor stood uu at the be-
yinning,

Fighteen suloon licenses were grant-
cd, uiso fve drug licensen, The appli-
cation of D.Trumpf for u saloon license
wus refuned,

A mewer will be constructed on
Fighth street,

It was decided 1o opien the ulley he-
tween East, Flizabeth, Seeond and
Third street.

b
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1912 Legislature Saved
Baraboo Industry

Taleg FFrom Earlier Dapsg
By Bob Dewel ForBNR Jan 9
2008

The loss of a major industry is
serious business for a city. In 1912,
Baraboo was reeling from the ongoing
removal of the railroad roundhouse and
division point. The City was hardly
prepared to take another hit. But one
threatened, a serious one, forin 1912 the
City almost lost its largest, most famous,
and most unusual industry. Only an act
of the Wisconsin Legislature saved
Baraboo from losing the Ringling Circus.
It also saved for Baraboo the future
erection of the Al Ringling Theatre!

Six years later Baraboo did lose
the circus, but remember, thisis 1912, Al.
and Henry and Gus still lived here.
Charlie's daughter Hester had just
graduated from Baraboo High School,
and lda had her two boys in school.
Why would the Brothers consider leaving
their complex of buildings, their many
residents skiled in winter repair and
renovation of the show, and indeed
their home town?

Well, as with so ma y things in this
world, the problem was taxes--not only
taxes on the extensive circus property,
but the proposed new fangled
Wisconsin Income Tax (there was no
federal income tax then}. It is often said
that the Ringlings did not like to pay
taxes, but, as with all celebrities, a lot of
things were and are said about the
Ringlings that may or may not be true.
They were in the public eye, and fair
game, and perhaps they understood
that. But the fact is, they may have had
a point--they paid a LOT of taxes.

The Virgil Cady records

Thanks to Bud Cady and family,
we have considerable insight as to this
matter. Bud's Grandfather was Virgil
Cady, City Attorney of Baraboo from

1912 until late in the 1920s. Virgil
preserved in a scrapbook all public legal
notices, plus associated newspaper
articles in the city. This included articles
on city-related affairs such as the
possible loss of an industry, in this case
the mammoth circus winter quarters.
Bud Cady has generously allowed this
writer access to the first six years of those
valuable records. We expect to present
several arficles gleaned from this city
freasure, this being the first.
The New Wisconsin Income Tax

A few words about the Wisconsin
Income tax in 1912. Wisconsin then was
known nationally as Progressive in its
politics, not aloof from its citizens but
involved in their well being, often led by
Fighting Bob LaFollette. This subject has
been fodder for full length books.
Suffice to say here that the state had
instituted what seems now 1o be a very
modest new income tax. A newspaper
clipping at the time spoke of it as a tax
affecting “only the classes of citizens
abundantly able to pay”. It was pretty
obvious that, by 1912, the owners not
only of of their circus but also the
Barnum operation were the circus kings
of the world, and were quite well off.

The Ringling Response

This meant that they were
subject to the new income tax. Rumors
had circulated for some time about the
future location of the circus. So, what
was the basis for the Ringling dispute?
The first clipping that Cady saved is from
the Milwaukee Journal, dated July 15,
1912. In a bit of bluffing, Al. Ringling was
quoted as saying that the circus was
already relocated in Bridgeport Conn. in
the old Barnum and Bailey quarters!
According to the article, Al. said “the
income tax was the cause of the
removal...We formerly paid one
twentieth of the tax of this county
(Sauk)..lf the income tax is modified, we
certainly shall re-establish our winter
quarters in Baraboo."

One can well imagine the
consternation this announcement
produced, particularly in Baraboo and
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Sauk County. Headlines proclaimed
that “Baraboo Citizens petition fo
amend income law to keep circus in
state...Main concern is (Ringlings) taxed
$8000 while its earnings in the state are
less that $20,000." Local assemblyman
Carpenter along with area Senator
Avery, infroduced bills in the Legislature
to provide exemptions to the income tax
when ninety percent of the concern is
transacted out of the state.

Anticipated loss

For Sauk County and Baraboo,
this was a serious matter. it was stated,
probably fairly correctly, that “the city
would lose 50 to 100 families and 300
children will be taken out of the
schools...the winter quartering
constitutes one of the important
industries of Baraboo, since the show is
practically rebuilt every year. " Avery, it
seems, was also the assessor, and stated
that of $17,000 income tax assessed in
Sauk County, $10,000 was assessed
against the Ringlings. Circus attorney
John Kelly, later the sparkplug for starting
the Circus World in Baraboo, stated that
the circus spent $15000 in the state
every year.

The Legislature acts.

It would seem that the Ringlings
had a point! We do not have access to
the actions of the Legislature, but
assume they were satisfactory to the
brothers. An undated article reported
that Al. Ringing had returned to the city,
and “All will be glad to see the gilded
wagons and champing steeds with
gaudy trappings return to the greatest
circus centerin the world.”

The reporter did not know it, but
already Al. Ringling was meeting with
architects in preparation for building the
first in the United States, of the opulent
palaces which would arise for the
growing silent motion picture industry.
The Al. Ringling still serves majestically
today. Also, thanks to Al and his Al
Ringling Theatre, Baraboo taxpayers
have not had to be taxed for a civic
auditorium for 92 years. It is a perfect
example of financially comfortable
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people giving back to their community
while they are sfill alive. Al. once fought
taxes, but saved all of us from a civic
auditorium tax! Thanks, All
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Al Ringling’s 1912 Decisions—-What Might Have Been

Yesteryear Revisited
By Bob Dewel

The year 1912 was one of big decisions for Al. Ringling, and the world-renowned
circus king's decisions would-have a big effect on Baraboo. Clue: This was NOT the year

that he built the Al Ringling Thedtre!
True, he was thinking about a theatre, and thanks to ace researcher Paul Wolter

and to a 1984 article by Dr. Robert Loeffler, we know a lot more than heretofore.
Loeffler's article, given to us some time ago by Helen Saloutos, has been preserved in the
Sauk County Historical Society archives, as will Wolter's research, and perhaps this article
too. Baraboo had been starved for a real theatre for 7 years, and Ringling's decisions
that year had the town's hopes up and down like a yoyo!

The first news was good. The Republic announced on March 1, 1912, confirmed
later by the Daily News, that Ringling had purchased the old frame building, now closed,
which once housed the historic Wisconsin House Hotel on Fourth Avenue. "Work is to start
immediately"”, gushed the paper, but remember thisis 1912, not 1915.

The newspapers do not report it, of course, but there was certain amount of
uneasiness among some of the locals about this project. Al. and Lou had been spending
less and less time in their relatively new and somewhat palatial Baraboo home, the big
brown structure which has housed the Elks Ciub for many decades. There were those
who said that there were matters of a personal nature between Al. and Lou, and also
that the RInglings in general were chafing under what they considered to be an
unreasonable Wisconsin tax system. More and more time was spent in Florida, it seemed.

Even worse, it was known that the couple had been house hunting in the
Chicago areaq, probably Evanston, and Baraboo might lose its world-renowned citizen.

~On April 25, then, you could almost hear the cheers coming from the Republic office, as
they breathlessly reported that Al. *said to a representative of the Republic that he and
his wife would continue to occupy the home in Baraboo, contrary to reports.” '

“This settles, in a way a question that has agitated the people of Baraboo for
some fime. it is a relief to see the blinds removed from the finest residence in the city
(because) their household goods were mostly packed and ready to move on short
notice" said the Republic. Now they would resettle in the house.

The March 1 announcement regarding a new theatre now seemed more
believable, and subscribers of the Sauk County Democrat read with interest and pride
that the structure would be three stories in height, with a centrally located entrance and
storefronts on either side. There would be offices for rent on the middle floor. The
theatre, to be built in the fall, was to seat 1200 persons.

The Evening News was even more glowing, noting that George Isenberg would

- begin removing the old Wisconsin House building at once. Some of the brick in that

structure dated from the 1850's, and perhaps was part of the old original courthouse
which was located there at the time. I[n earlier yeas the Wisconsin House had been
known as the Little Dutch Tavern, and perhaps was one of the objects of the wrath of
the 1855 Baraboo Whiskey Ladies, of which we have written.

The Weekly News continued: “Everything will be in a plan that will be in keeping
with Baraboo until it becomes a city of 20,000 or more, for the city will grow to that size."
This statement was based on the expected profits from iron mining, and indeed the
Cahoon mine south of town did operate for several years.

The Republic took pains to state that the theatre would be a joint ownership
between Al and Lou, an “"equal partnership”, and mentioned that Lou was active in

planning many of the features of the theatre.







A Significant
Groundbreaking in

March, 1915 .

Yesteryear Revisited
By Bob Dewel

March 29, 1915, was a great day
for Baraboo and Sauk County, one we
should commemorate. It was on that
day, which the Baraboo News said
featured “crisp  March air”, that
workmen actually began what would
become the “Ringling Opera House," as
it was called then.

The report observed that "a man
with several tools and packages of
material was seen to walk upon the
vacant lot on Fourth Avenue where the
Ringling house is to stand. His first work
was to begin the erection of a tent to
protect the tools and men in stormy
weather." :

In a follow up paragraph, it
stated that “Walley Brothers of Chicago,
the contractors, have amived and
expect to push the work at once. They
desire to hire all of the help here that is
possible. The erection of the fine new
building will give new activity in Baraboo
and provide a much needed
improvement.”

This was indeed great news for
Baraboo. news that skeptics doubted
would ever come to pass, for three years
had gone by since the project was
announced in April, 1912. Now, at last,
real culture and entertainment would
return to the city.

Old Opera House Fire

In an article which appeared in
the Baraboo News on Sept. 1, 1938,
Alderman Emest Sanderson traced the
history of tun of the century
enterfainment in Baraboo. He could
speak with authority, for it was he who
discovered the fire in the old opera
house. It was located on the North West
corner of Oak and Fifth Avenue.

it was on Friday, Feb. 22
(Washington's  Birthday), 1905, that
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Sanderson and Frank Shults {later the
postmaster) were shoveling the snow in
front of Sanderson's Barber Shop. It was
located at 606 Oak, stil a barbershop
and known now as John McNabb's Kut
Hut.

Smelling smoke the men turned
and saw that Shults’' large frame City
Opera House was on fire. As the News
reports, "Within two hours the building
was ashes, and Baraboo was without a
gathering place of any sort save the
G.A.R. Hall, which could accommodate
but a small crowd. *

The $4000 gift

It took a while for the citizens to
fully realize the loss, and the lack of
mental  stimulation and cultural
influences which followed the fire and
loss of a gathering place. Finally a
number of members of the Fellowship
Club, primarily a church group which
also served as a civic improvement
committee, determined to take action.

AS chairman of that group,
Emest Sanderson's job was to secure the
sum of $4000, as a gift to any developer
who would construct "an opera house
at a cost of not less than $20,000.” Gifts
ranged for $1 to $100, and at length
$4000 was pledged or given, but there
were no takers.

Al Ringling steps in

Observing all of this was the civic
minded Baraboo booster Al Ringling,
who said “If Baraboo folks are that much
interested in an opera house, | will build
them an opera house.” Al of course
had no need for the $4000, and began
plans which culminated in  our
magnificent Al Ringling theatre. It went
far beyond the theatre dreamed of by
the Fellowship club, but they were the
catalyst for the project.

Thus it all began on that crisp
morning in March. This year the Art
Friends will invite all citizens to help
celebrate the 90t anniversary of the
theatre. Additional articles will chronicle
the building of the structure, the
opening night, and  subseguent

developments.
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1915 Citizens Honor a Civic Benefactor

Yesteryear Revisited
By Bob Dewel

June 25, 1915, was a really big day in early Baraboo. No. it wasn't an authentic
circus parade, such as we will see this year on June 25. Nor was it Faire on the Square, or
Old Fashioned Day, or Art Fair or Craft Fair Days, like we have today. Yet, with no such
attractions, it drew a crowd in 1915 comparable to those on the best of our Faire days.

The eventful day had been proclaimed by the Mayor. and its purpose was to
honor just one man, a civic benefactor. Speeches of praise were given, all of them
accolades to the man who was recipient of all the adulation, with heartfelt applause
following each utterance.

It was so big a day that the news reports covered most of the front page of both
the Daily News and the Sauk County Democrat newspapers. The speeches were printed
in detail. The Baraboo Marine Band provided selected and spirited selections. Stores
were closed.

So why was the town so excited? It was, at last, after 10 years of dreams and
hopes, getting a building that would serve as a prominent anchor for downtown
Baraboo for decades to come, indeed still today in 2005. it was, of course, the haif-
constructed Al Ringling Theatre rising on the north side of the square. it would then, and
stilt does today. favorably distinguish Baraboo from its peer cities in Wisconsin.

The speeches

But the crowd had come to honor not only the building, but its donor, the world-
renowned but still Baraboo-minded benefactor, Al. Ringling. Al had been brought to the
square in a 1915 auto, where the crowd repeatedly greeted him warmly in appreciation
for what he was doing for the city. Both newspapers commented on Al's ill health, and
indeed it was fragile. Actually, he had but six weeks to live, dying on January 1 1916. Yet
he persevered in his dream.

Speeches were given by Mayor Theurer, who spoke of the community’s “deep
sense of gratitude” for the enterprise, and Al's unselfish nature. He said “"We delight to
honor @ man who, by industry, honesty and integrity, rises from a humble beginning to
fame in his chosen field." Also noted was the fame that the theatre would bring to
Baraboo over the years, setting it apart from similar size cities.

Supt. Of schools A.C. Kingsford paid glowing tribute to the veteran showman. He
said "We are proud to call him fellow citizen....We assure him that afthough his name has
been blazoned throughout the world and is known to countiess millions, he is loved
nowhere as much as here. We owe him, not for what he has, not for what he has done,
but for what he is. *

Significance
- So how big a day was it, and how important was it2  Consider the following: t
was to Al. Ringling that the State Legislature, after 70 years of existence, gave the first
resolution of regard for high service ever granted to a private citizen. Many members of
the State Legisiature were present.  All business places were closed for about two hours
so as to not detract from the observances,

And why was the construction of a theatre such a big deal for Baraboo? Other
towns already had “opera Houses" and indeed Baraboo had once had one of sorts,
doubling as a skating rink at times. Located on the NW corner of Ash and Fifth Street, it
had bumed ten years previously, and the city suffered a dearth of cuitural activities.

So much missed were theatrical performances, lectures, and cultural programs
that a citizen's group had pledged $5000 to anyone who would build a showplace
costing “not less that $20,000." Now Al was building one for $100,000, without accepting
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the small purse offered. Now Baraboo citizens would have an opera house beyond their
most hopeful dreams.
Unique Décor theme

Not just dollars were involved, for the decor of this theatre was destined to be the
pathfinder for the American theatrical world for decades to come. Later, theatre
representatives from the new Balaban and Katz chain came to Baraboo to see what a
theme theatre could look like, and soon similar paiaces sprang up all over the country.

Unlike the storefront movie theatres of the day, the Theatre would have a pre-
Revolutionary French decor, a veritable palace such as one might find in Paris or
Versailles. One can visualize the workmen returning home at night to tell their wives that
Al had gold columns twenty feet high in the building—perhaps the wives suggested the
men had been drinking on the job to come home with such talest  But the women
engaged in sewing the high quality red velvet thought there was no end to their work.

The theatre was expected to seat about 1000 persons on the main floor, and
rumor had it that the boxes would seat 250, more than double their true capacity. The
area behind the boxes was called the dress circle, and it was believed overflow crowds
could be seated there, though this is impractical and is not done at the present time.

The townspeople were excited, thrlled and curious. Nothing like this had ever
happened in Baraboo before. In addition, everyone knew their local celebrity was
seriously ifl, yet was proceeding with buiiding his dream. No wonder the crowd was large

and appreciative.
it was a great time to be in or from Baraboo, with both the governor (Phillip) and

the Lieutenant Governor {Dithmar) from the area. Two magjor circuses headquartered in
the city, their varied and often glamorous employees giving it @ more cosmopolitan air

than normally found in a small Wisconsin city.
One might say the same today, with not only a circus presence but other unusual

and qudility attractions such as the International Crane Foundation, UW Baraboo-Sauk
County, nearby Devils Lake and Mid-continent railway museum.  And yes, the still
magnificent Al. Ringling Theatre, proudly awaiting a new generation of benefactors iike

Al Ringling.






Baraboo’s eventful
summer of 1915

‘ The: summer of 1915 must
have been an exciting time to live
in Baraboo, especially for the
sidewalk supermtendents who
always seem to appear.”

'BOBDEWEL :
BOB DEWEL

YESTERYEAR REVISITED

When else in the history of the RS e

; c1t;y could one view with inten--

" .sive mterest these two' major
- .downtown construction projects:

.. The construction of Al
. -Ringling’s" magnificent opera

house, soon to be named after’

.one’s corner of the world then.
The building had cost some
$100,000, big money in 1906.
The cupola seemed almost an
afterthought for the grand build-
ing which rose from the ashes of

' its predecessor.

“® The addxtwn of the new and -~

: enlarged cupola on the Sauk
". County Courthouse,’ complete‘

o with two'huge and sanorous bells

" and four clock faces, a gift i in,

‘;:'honor ‘of Ionghme pubhc servant
“Jd.J-Gattiker.
“The mdewalk gawkers must

where to direct their | gaze, with

fwo-such defining projects occur-

_ ring on the square at the same
time, . .

Tl:lecourthouse ‘
The county’s current court-
house had been built in 1906 fol-
lowing the 1904 fire, which
destroyed the prevmus 1857

The classxc new structure with
its ionic columns and its solemn
“Lex” high over the east door-
way, had been capped with a
cupola having a small and archi-
tecturally inadequate pointed
roof, not readily visible if you
were standing near the building.

-Public buildings were built
with class and style in those
days. The County Board and the
public both wanted a public
structure which would define the
quality and importance of the
young county, rather than
restricting themselves with low-
ering taxes — apparently there
was less obsession with taxes
and more interest in pride in

, 'The Gattiker sisters
So it must have seemed to

_Margaret and Luise, the daugh-
ters of J.J. Gattiker. A Swiss citi-

zen who immigrated at the age of

: 29, he had within three years
have been hard-pressed to know become county clerk. He subse-

guently became a supervisor,
and later was president of the
school board. Nancy Mandt, a
lifelong Baraboo resident until
recently, was a descendant. -
The sisters determined that a
suitable memorial to their father
-could be a new and finer cupola,
complete with a clock with faces

-in all four directions, plus the

two bells: Unfortunately, we

“were unable to find newspaper

references to a dedication in the
summer of 1915, but there were
many references to its construc-
tion in the'May and June papers.

‘On May 7, 1915, the “small”
bell, a 600-pound, 30-inch cast-
ing, was hoisted to the heavily
reinforced structure. It would
sound on the half hour, using the
musical tone B. Hoisted soon
after this was the larger bell, a
2,000-pound, 46-inch casting,
which would sound on the hour
with the musical tone E. The
Seth Thomas clock faces each
feature a dial 6 feet, 6 inches
across.

" The Evening News opined that

the new addition “will remain

.there forwma.ny decades, perhaps
centuries.” On the side of the

er bell is inscribed, “In mem-

larg: )
_ory of J.J. Gattiker, 1826-1895.”

Magdalene home

A sidelight: Mrs. Gattiker’s
first name was Magdalene, and
the Magdalene Home on Ash
Street, built in 1960, carries her
name. It also was funded origi-
nally by the sisters. A Ringling
home stood there until it was
razed. Like her husband,
Magdalene Gattiker was Swiss.
Baraboo was fortunate to host
these immigrants, and to have
their daughters as benefactors.

" Baraboo in 1915
How the onlookers must have

. speculated on the size and

weight of the bells, as well as the
cost to the daughters. But they
had a few other things to specu-

late about during dull moments,
for 1915 had other news of inter-

‘est. The Great War in Europe

had begun, but Woodrow Wilson
would be elected the next year on
the slogan “He Kept Us Out of
War,” so all was well.

Locally the loafers talked about
the 1916 Buick runabout at the
Prothero and McGinnis Auto Co.,
costing $985. Chautauqua was in
town for a week, and drew great
crowds. The Mayo doctors of
Rochester were already famous.
Two band concerts on the square
by the Baraboo Marine Band had
been canceled for various rea-
SODS.

The Hoppe Clothing Store was
selling men’s suits as low as
$9.80 and as high as $17.80. The
motorized stage to Kilbourn (now
Wisconsin Dells) left daily at 7
a.m. and 3 p.m. for the one-hour
trip. Of great interest was the
arrival in Baraboo stores of a
new cigarette brand the name of









Al provided fascination for
sidewalk superintendents

If the sidewalk superinten-

dents of 1915 were fascinated

. by the installation of the

Courthouse cupola and its bells,

they were absolutely astounded

by the doings on the north side
of the square.

The old frame hotel, run-down

and next door to the more ele-
gant Wellington Hotel, had been
razed. In early spring several
dignitaries had gathered in the
cold to dig the ceremonial first
spadefull of dirt for Al
Ringling’s project, an “Opera

House.”
The need

Everyone knew how badly a
real playhouse was needed.
Most public gatherings were
held in the fairly new Methodist
Church, or the Congregational
Church or a small GA.R. Hall.
The red brick high school on
Oak and Second did not have a
real auditorium. True, there
were an occasional stage pre-
sentation at the little Gem
Theatre, but the Lyceum
Theatre was equipped only for
motion pictures.

But a real auditorium with an
adequate stage and a slanted
floor for good visibility—
Baraboo had never had such a
. facility. Ten years had passed
since fire leveled the Shults
place, a roller skating rink con-
verted into an “Opera house” on
the Northwest corner of Oak
and Fifth.

So hungry were the citizens of
Baraboo for cultural attractions
that the “city fathers,” probably
a combination of city funds and
individual donations, got up a
purse of $5000 in about 1910. It
was to be donated to anyone
who would build a theatre cost-
ing “not less than $20,000.”

The figure seems ridiculous
now, but laborers those days got
far less than a dollar a day, and
you could buy a man’s suit for
less than ten dollars. Times
were so tough that the fee for a

wedding license ‘had been-

reduced from $3 to $2. But Al
Ringling’s theatre would have a
base cost of over $100,000,
which shows how modest the
purse offering was. Al. did not
accept it, of course.

So, after ten years, Al
Ringling had stepped forward to
build a theatre which, 84 years
later, still amazes first time visi-
tors. Baraboo residents, on the
other hand sometimes seem to
take it for granted that we have
such a magnificent facility. Even
the Theatre Historical Society of
America has pronounced it to be
the FIRST of the great palatial
movie houses which sprang up
around the country after Al.
showed the way.

Sidewalk superintendents

The sidewalk superintendents

were skeptical. You could tell

the structure would be big, for it
occupied four store fronts.
Rumor had it that Al tried to
buy the two buildings directly to
the East, without success, for a
really large facade. City
Attorney V.C. Cady had
arranged for a three foot exten-
sion into the alley, and a letter
of appreciation from Al. remains
today in the hands of his grand-
son, Bud Cady.

The gaping onlookers no
doubt included high school
youths checking the daily
progress. Within three years,
many of them would be in mili-
tary service, and 21 of Baraboo’s
finest would escape death when
the Tuscania troop ship was tor-
pedoed off the coast of Ireland in
1918. .

Rumors

Rumors abounded. Workmen
coming home at night reported
dozens of 18 foot gold columns,
and the wives suspected they
had been drinking on the job to
be telling such outlandish tales.
Seamstresses reported what
seemingly was miles of Red vel-
vet to be sewn, and it was noted
that there were several foreign-
speaking wood carvers and
artists on the scene.

What’s more, a “large pipe
organ” was to be installed, in
the theatre yet, with the pipes
hidden in a loft out of sight
somewhere! There was to be a
real orchestra pit, with the
organ right smack in the middle
of it. How amazed the populace
would have been had they
known that the first organ
would be replaced in 13 years
with the Mighty Barton, even
with talking pictures arriving at
theatres, replaceing organ

Railroad men reported deliv-
ering 59 train cars of bricks for
the building. There was a girder

weighing all of 12 tons. There
would be room for 1000 souls to
be seated in comfort. And a
ladies lounge—who ever heard
of such a thing in Baraboo?

Al Ringling

There was another rumor. It
was that Al. Rinling, the town’s
world-famous citizen, didn’t look
so good. A noted eye doctor, him-
self blind, was summoned from
Chicago and Al. reported “some
comfort” from the visit. Al. went
to Portage to see his Barnum
and Bailey Circus perform, and
the Portage Register reported
him to be in ill health.

The Register reported, per-
haps with some envy, that Al’s
theatre would be “a momentoe of
esteem for his home town” and
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- 100 years ago'thisbweek (1907)

» “The moving picture show
opened last evening in the
0dd Fellow building on
Third Street. On account of
the band concert the atten-
dance was not so large as
would have been. However
a large crowd is expected.
The program is one of the
finest to be secured.”
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cultural gem in south central
Wisconsin,

One can visualize Al. in his
castle-like home, now the Elks
Club, frequently going to the
window to watch the walls rise
and the great ventilators reach
for the sky atop the stage area.
As Al's health worsened and his
eyes failed, he visited less fre-
quently, but opening night on
Nov. 17, 1915 he found the ener-
gy to attend. He sat in the cen-
ter box with his wiffe Lou, who
in the early years of their mar-
riage had served as a snake
charmer in the show.

Lou charmed the audience as
she whispered in his ear, for by
now Al. was blind. He had to see
his finished theatre through the
eyes of his wife, and hear her
identify the many friends from
far and near who had come to
see Al's masterpiece.

Some of the men were in
Tuxedo and opera cloaks, and
the ladies were in their finest
floor length dresses of the day.
The Governor was present, and
spoke to Al. across the auditori-
um crowd below from his box
pear the proscenium. It was a
gala occasion indeed, but the
mood was also solemn. In seven
weeks Al, Ringling was dead.

Alma Waite?

Is it possible that Al's -second
cousin, Alma Lux, was in the
audience as a child? Later, as
Alma Waite, she too became one
of Baraboo’s great benefactors.
Perhaps it was then that the
seed of philanthropic generosity
was planted by the example of
her great cousin. Her money
was circus money. Both gave
generously to the entertainment
world in their lifetimes, and it
might be assumed that the
example she set could be a
guide in the use of her gift by
the city.

If indeed the seed was planted
then, Al. Ringling’s memorial
gift served a double purpose, for
Alma Waite’s funds are now
used often, but not always, for
public entertainment and enjoy-
ment.

Let no one ask “What did the
Circus ever do for Baraboo?
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An Afternoon Interview and a Grand Opening
Yesteryear Revisited
By Bob Dewe] News Repubilic copy

The feeble November sun was lowering in the southwestern sky, and seemed to
threaten a descent into the chimney of the Methodist Parsonage. As the visitor
approached the large brown Superior Sandstone home on Broadway, he reflected that
it was by far the largest home in the city. Even the stable, also in sandstone, was larger
than many homes.

The visitor was not intimidated, however, by the fortress-like structure with its huge
porch and air of foreboding. After all, he was expected, indeed invited, and would
soon be seated with an old but very famous friend on the most auspicious day of that
man'’s life.

His ring was promptly answered by the butler, whose outstretched hand waited
for the visitor's card. Alas, no card, but mention of the name and the appointment was
sufficient and he was soon ushered into the office of the owner, a world famous
entrepreneur and old friend. Though neither man knew it, one would be dead in seven
weeks, but only after observing the crowning pinnacle of his life.

: On the train

D.W. Watt, the Janesville editor, had boarded a Northwestern Line train at 11:35
that morning, and was delighted to join old friends who had previously boarded in or
near Chicago. There were Charles and Edith Ringling and son Robert, now of Evanston,
llinois, and Charles’ brother Alf. T. Ringling and son Richard of New York City. Many
other theatrical and circus personaiities were also present. All were headed for Baraboo
to "do honor to a man who had the courage to build in that city one of the finest, if not
the finest, playhouses in America, Mr. Alf. (sp) Ringling.”

On arrival in Madison, the memy group was joined by Charles and Edith’s
daughter Hester and her husband Clif Parks. Unbeknown to all, death stalked here as
well as in Baraboo, for the bright and talented young man would soon succumb to an
early death.

The scenic passage from Madison to Baraboo went only too quickly amid the
merry group. On arrival at the depot they found Henry Ringling with a big touring car.
Our Janesville editor does not appear to have been included in the family car, but taxis
and coaches, one perhaps driven by Baraboo's Frank Terbilcox, carmied visitors across
the high bridge into downtown Baraboo and its sparkling new theatre.

Nearby to the East was the massive Wamen Hotel, with the Wellington Hotel
directly to the west of the theatre. The town square, with its business buildings huddled
around the courthouse square, seemed like a scene out of the Norman Rockwell
paintings of a future generation.

The Interview
We are indebted to Paul Wolter, the intrepid president of the Sauk County
Historical Society and indefatigable local history researcher, for finding this remarkable
article, giving us additional input and confirmation of the events of opening night at the
Al Ringling Theatre on Nov. 17, 1915. Editor Watt's newspaper story tells us much about
Al Ringling's state of health on opening night, for example, and confirms and enhances
the grandeur of the event.

It was well known that Al Ringling was suffering from an unstated illness, -probably
Bright's disease, but Editor Watt found him busy in his home office, dictating letters and
telegrams to his secretary. The familiar friends quickly entered into spirited discussion of
the grand opening of the theatre coming up that evening.






LIVE THEATRE BRINGS
CULTURE TO BARABOO

Yesteryear Revisited
By Bob Dewel

Imagine, If you will, a world in
which there not only is no television to
entertain you, but no radio. No radio in
your car, none in the kitchen, none in
the shower. Hardly half of the homes
have telephone or electricity, and email
and the computer were concepts not
even dreamed of.

Sure, the postman delivers mail
twice a day, and the post office is
sometimes open for a while on Sundays,
but there is virtually no junk mail, and
many days you get no mail at all. It all
sounds pretty bleak—and you complain
that there is nothing to do now?
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There was, however, one new
source of entertainment, and a pretty
exciting one—silent movies. Baraboo in
the early days had a succession of up to
eight storefront theatres, including one
named the Urodoram. Sometimes piano
was provided, either live or player piano,
so as to fill the room with sound during
the silent  fim. You felt more
comfortable Iaughing or crying then,
with sound in the room to cover your
emotions.

However, Baraboo had been
without a real theatre since its first opera
house, such as it was, bumed February
22, 1905. The silent movies in the
storefront theatres were all right, but
everyone knew that there was another
venue that they were missing—culture in
the form of stage performances with live
orchestras and skilled actors and singers.

Al Ringling Theatre

Barabonp

Ppening Ferformance

Wednesday Ehening
Nohember the Setrenteenth
Ninetren Bundred and Fifteen

Boors opru at a guarter past sewen
Gurtain at a guarter past pight



On Stage at the Al

The story of how Al Ringling
recognized and filled this void with the
nation’s first commodious and thematic
movie padlace has been fold in other
articles. This article will discuss how the
stage was used for live theatre from 1917
through 1920.

What a dglorious use it wasl
Thanks to the late Clark Wilkinson, there
are over 30 scrapbooks containing
newspaper clippings, programs, and
nofices covering about everything that
happened at the wondrous theaire
calied the Al. Ringiing. Credit shouid
also go to Inez Stewart, who recently
catalogued many of the scrapbooks,
which are stored in the State Historical
Society building in Madison.

So what was on stage at the Al.
Ringling? It is well known that the
theatre opened on November 17, 1915,
with a Broadway play, Lady Leisure. The
local Theatre Guild has a copy of the
script, and though it was the rage in
1915, it is considered too dull for modern
audiences. Opening night was a white
tie and tail affair, with friends of Al. from
across the nafion. The Governor spoke
from the proscenium box, praising Al.

Opening night was not a flash in
the pan. On November 19 a seven night
run began, with light opera performed
with a cast of 50. Two plays were
presented in December. On nights
when the stage was dark, movies were
shown, accompanied by the theatre's
first organ. it was replaced in 1928 with

the present Mighty Barton.
1916
The following year, 1916, finds 44
stage presentations listed in  the
scrapbooks. One troupe was

accompanied by a 60 foot rail car filed
with scenery and props. A special frain
came from Hillsboro for the event, and
the local Bachelors Club, featured in a
previous article, entertained their ladies
with a theatre party at the second show,
followed by a midnight dinner. Another
1916 sensation was real movies of
Baraboo boys in training at the Camp
Douglas facility.

One 1916 presentation included
a street parade, and the Winnegar
troupe played for seven nights during
the county fair. Iin Sept. the Ministerial
Association praised the decision of
management to close the theatre on
Sundays. One wonders how they felf the
‘tollowing month when the Al. presented
a show with "30 gaily clad, prefty,
shapely, clever girls with voices trained
to the minute.” Also in October was a
play presented entirely in German.

New lighting was installed in
October, and we first hear the slogan
“Nothing is Too Good for Baraboo” at
this time. November election returns
were broadcast, as received by “private
wire to the stage". apparently a
telegraph line, or possibly telephone.

1917
1917 lists at least 55 stage
presentations. Special trains from
Reedsburg and elsewhere  were
mentioned, and again opera was

included, in this case Wi Travatore. A
hypnotist held forth one night, including
a man riding a stationery bicycle for
hours without stopping. Saturday serials
began, and patriotic rallies for World
War | were common. Shakespeare's
Merchant of Venice made it to the
stage also. it was in 1917 that the
surviving brothers offered the theatre as
a gift to the city. As was reported in
previous articles, the gift was declined
due to far too many restrictions in the
offer.

Wartime in 1918 saw fewer stage
shows, only 38 being listed in the
scrapbooks. The theatre was used for
Red Cross and other patriotic rallies. A
wartime entertainment tax brought in
over $25,000 for the war effort. A flu
epidemic, also previously reported,
Closed the theatre and all churches for
38 days. Later people were admitted
unless "“you have a cold or have been
exposed to the fiu.”

And so it went. 19219 scrapbooks
show 56 stage shows, with music on the
piano by Sigmund Romberg. Jerome
Kern, and George M. Cohen. High
school pilays were presented, a custom
still followed 81 years after the theqtre
was built. The most recent, in 2002, wos
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[Lady Luxury
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CAST OF CHARACTERS

In the Urder of Their First Appearance.

Epwarp VAN CUvLER ......

Lo A LWL Herbert

A\ common-sense man, sah -- wnhout fritls, ma‘am ~- whose home

and ideals are a generation old;

HARPER _ ... .ol L
who, however. adores his voung mistress

FroisE Vax CUOVYLER. . ... ... oiuvnn..

his butler
.............. Mr. Sam }. Burton

an American heiress, whose fortune has been held in trust for her
until the hour the play opens, although her brother,

Juiuwy oo

................... Eddie Morris

has heen spending his share and is just home from abroad ou the

same boat with

MRS, DRAPER-COWLES .. ... .ounen.. ...

............ Miss Emily Fitroy

an English chaperon, who comes to assume charge of Eluise's

sucial campaign, accompanied hy

MaUupE Drarer CowrLes ...

her daughter, destined for a rlch
with a very different type of man,

Say WARKREN .

. Miss Gipsy Dale

marriage. hut secretly in love

Mr. Forrest Huff

from Texas. not u':ed o mndern wirls, but anxious to learn from

Eloise, who has envaged

MapaME MISCHROWA. .. ... ... ..

cevee-....Miss Fritzi von Busing

a Russian dancer, to appear during the hirthday [estivities and
who endeavors 1 solve the mystery before the fall of the fAinal une

carried by
Couxt PINtaseLLL,

.Mr. Arthur Albro

whose own Iu:sec mnl\c— lnm “elcnme the curmng n{

DETECTIVE SCATRO .. ... ............

............. Mr. E. H. Crawford

wha endeavors to solve the mystery before the fall of the final

curtain, with the aid of

DEBUTANTES AND OTHER GUESTS, DANCERS, ETC.
Misses Tessie Goldie, Harriett Springer, Bettie De Grasse, {nsephine La

Vetle, Edith Ramey, Alma Buell,
Corey, Loretta Doyle, Elsie St\ll“ell

Violet Dale, Marie
Norma Van Norman, Favles

“arrel}, Cecil

B. Hiltwon, leanene Sorlote, Pauline De Lawrence. L:lhau Berry,
Dorothy FitclyLoretta Wilson. Lauise Morris, Alice Elden, Jane Reade:

Messrs. John Alexander, Eric Block., Toney Nash, Frank Kenny, Irving
Eastman, Nichalas Wilson, Monte Stone, Harry Wild.

The Circus World Museum has a program from
opening night, November 17, 1915. One page

is show~n above;

“I Haven't a Clue”. Also in 1919, the
theatre was rented by the K.C.’s and Elks
for various programs, and the Methodist

Church #ad its statewide annual
meeting there one year.
1920

The tradition continues in 1920,
with 63 stage presentgations listed in the
scrapbooks, including a lecture about
the efforts of Herbert Hoover to aid the
starving Armenians.  Some shows speak
of the Al Ringling Orchestra
accompanying the stage shows. The
annual encampment of the G.A.R. civil
war veterans ran from 10 AM. to 9.P.M.

Curiously, it included what was calied a
Jazz Orgy. and a Ford was given away
in a drawing.

A story on the theatre in the
Twenties decade may foliow. It should
be noted that the Al. Ringling was built
with private funds, paid taxes for 75
years, and still acts as a city audiforium,
with no tax levy. Reedsburg and Sauk
Prairie finally have city auditoriums after
all these vyears, largely at taxpayer
expense. Baraboo has been fortunate
indeed!






THE SILENT MOVIES IN THE
EARLY DAYS IN BARABOO

Yesteryear Revisited
By Bob Dewel

Unlike her neighbors to the East,
North, and West, Baraboo has only one
theatre, but what a difference!l No
cheaply painted walls in a boxy room
with a white screen at one end—not for
Baraboo! Not well known, however, is
the fact that Baraboo had two theatres
in the 1970's, and we don't mean the
Juliar. More on this later.

In the eary days Baraboo had
many theatres, and it was a Mecca for
the showing of silent movies. Before
movies it was a center for stage shows
and events. Let's review the meeting
places and theatres of Baraboo, starting
150 years ago with Taylor Hall. it seems
to have been located on the SE corner
of Broadway and Third Avenue. Before
Taylor Hall, the little village relied on the
2 ramshackle courthouses or the
Methodist Church, located then on the
SE comer of Broadway and Fifth, for
meetings.

Taylor Hall

According to the “Baraboo
intensive Survey”, Taylor Hall existed from
about 1850 to 1875, but its somry state of
repair caused the Baraboo Republic
then to call for its replacement with a
real opera house. Such was done, using
the term loosely, on the NW comner of
Oak and Fifth Avenue, part of the time it
being a roller rink.

The Opera House seated 1000,
and such notables as Robert Lafollette
and William Jennings Bryan spoke from
its stage. It burned on February 22, 1905,
leaving Baraboo with only a few
storefront movie houses with no stage.
Baraboo was pretty much without
culture and stage performances until
the Al. Ringling was builtin 1915.

There was, to be sure, the opera
hall at 518 Oak, currently refurbished as
the Opera House and used as a
banguet hall. The burgeoning silent
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movie industry found outlets in Baraboo
quickly, though they often were little
more than vacant storefronts with a
screen at the far end.

They did not lack in impressive
names, however, for there was the Elite
theatre upstairs at 118 Ash, the Bijou at
112 Third Street, and the strangely
named Urodorum, said to be
somewhere in the vicinity of the present
Al. Ringling. The Orpheum was simply
“on Third Street", and the Lyceum at 145
Third Street, plus the Electric at 129 Third
Avenue, upstairs over what is Ploetz'
Furniture today. Not all were here at the
same fime

The Gem

The above information from the
intensive  Survey is supplemented,
fortunately, by a true eyewitness. In a
document recently made available to
the wiiter, the late Clark Wilkinson wirites
of his employment, at age 14 in the
Gem theatre, perhaps best known of all
the old silent venues. The year was 1920,
and he had already attended movies
there as a youth, most” of which he
remembered with photographic
memory 60 years iater.

The Gem had beern in operation
since 1913, and was located at 142 Third
Street. lts fagade is pictured on this
page. In his remarkable memoirs,
Wilkinson states that movies were
sometimes shown in vacant lots like the
one behind the Reinking store {across
form the Alpine Café). Among the
pianists at the Gem were Genivieve
Winchester, Mrs. Keith, and a woman
who was sister to Durlan Meyer. Other
employees at different times were
Wallace and Dick Crowe, Helen
Schadde, and James Benardis. As a
former circus performer, Benardis
sometimes added a short demonstration
of his art after the movie. The Ringlings
bought and closed the Gem in 1923.

As was hinted in the first
paragraph of this article, there was
another Gem Theaire in Baraboo,
existing in the basement of the Wilkinson
home on Fourth Avenue. Clark had a









“Nothing is too good
for Baraboo’’

by Bob Dewel

It had been a dizzying climb for AL
Ringling. Hardly 40 years ago he had been a
carriage finisher, a respected but hardly
promising trade. Now, in 1915, he was the
Circus King of the World, an experienced
world traveler and showman extraordinaire.

Moreover, this year he was building what
the Theatre Historical Society of America
now calls, in 1998, the FIRST of the palatial
movie theatres built in the United States.
_The concept was to be copied in such presti-
gious venues as the Chicago Theatre, the
Paramount in New York, the Fox in
Washington, D.C. and a plethora of elegant
theme theatres throughout the country.

Most important of all, Al. was building -

his theatrical gem in little Baraboo,
Wisconsin. Al. had a strong attachment for
Baraboo, and perhaps may have felt an
obligation to the town, which after &ll had
tolerated his elephants making pot holes in
the street. His circus even gave the town a
certain aroma of the circus at times.

Al the Performer

In the carliest experimental days of the
circus, Al. had been an integral part of the
performance. He is best remembered,
strangely, for his ability to balance a heavy
plow on his chin. There were other feats of
strength and daring as he plied his trade of
wagon finishing and blacksmithing in the
small towns of southern Wisconsin. He had
married Louise Morris in November, 1880,
AT THE AGE OF 28 {(she was 27), and
together their talents made them the leaders
of the family enterprise. Lou performed as a
snake charmer!

Retirement

Now, in 1915, Al. had for the first time
retired from active management of the far-
flung Ringling, Sells-Floto, and Barnum and
Bailey enterprises, for he had another pro-
ject in mind. Having seen thc opulent con-
cert halls of Europe, he rcalized that
American music "halls “left much to be

deslx'red. Al. had the interest, hc had the
desire, and he had the capable Rapp and
?app architects from Chicago to do his bid-
ing. .
Morcover, they appearcd 1o have rather
unlimited access to his checkbook — for the
unheard-of sum of $100,000 or more was to
be expended on Al’s theatre. The lownspeo-

ple noted that the
sparkling new court-
house (still cxtant) had
only cost $83,000! Also,
the theatre was to be
built in scven months —
men worked long hours
in those days! But there
may have been another
reason for the speed. Al
Ringling wasn’t looking
so well, and the whole
town knew it.

Construction

The planning had
taken two years, and the
News reported the first
spadefull turned in April,
1915. For a man of 64
who was ill and in a
wheelchair, it showed the
town his determination
to complete his dream —
a sort of monumcntal gift
to the city which had
nurtured his parents, his
brothers, and their cir-
cus.

The city was moved
by his generosity, and on
June 24 scveral thousand
persons gathercd on the
square to pay homage to
their world-famous citi-
zen, whom most knew
by his first name. Al was
brought to the square in a

1916 auto, and speeches were given
by Mayor Thuerer and Superintendant
of Schools Kingsford.

The project became the talk of the
town. Workmen returned at the end of
the day with tales of yards, if not
miles, of red velvet arriving Some
would talk in wonder about the 26
gold columns some 20 feet high, and
the multi-light chandelier. Al. was
obviously up to something Baraboo
had never dreamed it could have, a
world-class theatrical venue.

Culturally deprived for years

True, the city fathers had hoped
someone would build a theatre, since
the old “opera house™ and skating rink
had burmed in 1903, ten years earlier.
A fund had been started, and what in
those days was a very generous
$5,000 was raised. It was to be given
free as 2 purse to anyone who would
build a meeting hall costing at least
$20,000, considered a more than ade-
quate sum for the small town. Now Al
had raised the ante to over $100,000,
and would pay for it all himself!

. Opening Night

Opening night, November 17,
1915, was perhaps Baraboo’s most
shining moment, for Al.’s friends from all
over the country had come to share in his
enterprise. It was for many a white tie and
tails affair, some wearing opera cloaks and
silk hats. The Governor and Lt. Governor
spoke from one of the 17 elegant boxes, an
orchestra played, a stage play direct from

" Broadway was performed, and all present

heaped praise on Al. Ringling.

Sadly, Al. Ringling never saw his com-
pleted theatre, for by this time he was blind.
Opening night was the only time he attend-
ed, and in seven weeks he was dead. The
friends and townspeople had been right —
Al hadn’t Jooked so well all summer, but he
had pressed his project to fruition. Baraboo
can be thankful. v












Nothing Was Too Good For Baraboo
Yesteryear Revisited
By Bob Dewel

You don't hear the above phrase often anymore, but at one time it was a
prominent part of the advertising of the Al Ringling Theatre, along with the slogan
“"America's Prettiest Playhouse.”

Was it just an advertising slogan, or were Al Ringling's intentions to present
Baraboo with an innovative design, believed by many to be the first of the stage and
movie palaces in the United Statese Al's motives have traditionally been that he wanted
his theatre to be a gift to the city, whose citizens had happily nurtured his early circus
ventures.
Thanks to several original letters on file at the Sauk County Historical Society, we
can now determine that A's motives were fruly altruistic, and that indeed nothing was
too good for his home town of Baraboo. All five letters prove that the theatre was to
have quality productions, with prices commensurate with the budget of the average
citizen.

The First letters

For over a decade the theatre tour guides, including this writer, have sadly stated
that due to blindness, Al Ringling never saw his beautiful theatre, and that he died six
weeks after its opening. The latter statement is frue, but the letters cast some doubt
about the blindness, as will be seen by what follows. All of five letters still exist, written
during the six week period after the grand opening on November 15, 1915, but before his
death on January 1, 1916.

All of the letters were dictated to his male secretary, and the first was on
November 18, the day after the grand opening. Addressed to a film supply company, it
contains several requests that the films they send be a "good strong show...even though
it may cost me a little more...please be sure... without fail...see that our program is a
strong one."”

This first movie was to be on Monday, November 22. In another letter dated
November 19, Ringling ordered several glass slides such as used in the days of silent
movies. They read as follows: “Welcome...Ladies' Hats Off...short intermission...good
night.” Some of these were still around a few years ago, and may still be extant.

Al Ringling was a sick man, but not too sick to get another letter off the next day,
the 20, Here he commented at iength on the failure of an orchestra to appear on
opening night. He again showed concern for quadlity productions, for he states “Mr.
Wingdfield..my idea is to be careful in getting good shows to give the public and not let
the people go away from my house dissatisfied.

Here the matter of price of admission comes up., for Wingfield has written that
theatres in the city charge 50 cents to $1.50 for seats. Al writes "l hope you don't mean
that 50 cents is the lowest price paid. | would rather show at a lower figure...l do not wish
to misrepresent anything with regard to a show.”

Later Letters

The December 18 letter is concermned about the Christmas showing, for the
agency has booked "The Scarlet Sin" and "Ready for Reno”. Al feels these would not be
appropriate, and suggests they book “Christmas Memories." He complains that “some
of our programs recently have not been quite satisfactory...if your office is unable fo
watch matters such as the instances given, kindly advise together with your suggestions”,
a not too thinly veiled threat to look elsewhere for bookings.

On Christmas Day Al of course does not redlize it, but he has but one week fo live.
Even his secretary is at work, for the letter is dictated with regard to the New Years Day
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City Fathers reject gift fro
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Ringling Theatre

Suppose the lead story in
today’s edition of the Sun began as
follows: “City fathers offer
$150,000 as a gift. Recipient must
build an $600,000 theatre in city.
No other strings.”

Now suppose that 10 years later
the lead story began: *“Council
declines Al Ringling Theatre as a
gift.” City will not accept Ringling
heirs’ offer.”

The wording is ours, but both
events were true in their time.
Money was offered to anyone to
build a theatre in the early 1900’s,
and in 1917, the City spurned the
Al. Ringling as a gift!

The generous gift
Let us consider first the gift of
money to build a theatre. We have
adjusted the dollar figures to
account for 90 years of inflation,
but even so it is remarkable that
such an offer was made.

The fiery destruction of the
Shults Opera House in 1905, on
the Northwest comer of Fifth and
Qak, was bad news for the people
of Baraboo. Leaving them “‘with-
out a gathering place of any sort
save the (small) G.A.R. Hall.” The
fire had been discovered by barber
Sanderson while shoveling the
walk in front of his barber shop on
Oak street, now the McNabb shop.

This was a serious blow to the
city, for “Baraboo could not be
without a place where a concert
could be given, a political meeting

held or a repertoire company
show.”

Interestingly, the Baraboo
Eveni){g News spent little time
mourning the loss of the “opera
house,” once a skating rink. Their
sub-headline “reporting the fire
read “Now for 2 new one,” and

spoke of the old building as now -

being “out of the way.”

There are two versions of what
happened during the next five
years. Most accounts speak of the
offer to partially fund a new the-
atre as coming from the “City
Fathers,” which usually refers to a
city council. But the reminiscences
of Barber Sanderson state that the-
Fellowship Club, serving as a civic
organization “working to better the
community,” raised the money.

Sanderson was named the chair-
man and pledges were secured so
as to entice a speculator to build a
theatre. Some persons gave “as
much as $100, and there was great
jubilance among the Committee
when the sum had reached $4000.”
It was all to no avail, for 10 years
would pass before the city had an
opera house — but what an opera
house it was and is!

Advertisements of the day show
how $4000 would be like
$150,000 today, for an overcoat
was $6, patent leather shoes $2.00,
and silver dental fillings 50 cents!
A new piano was $135.

It was here that Al. Ringling
stepped, in, apparently in 1912. “If
Baraboo folks are that much inter-
ested in having an opera house, I
will build you an opera house.”
The News stated that “the only
assurance he wanted was that the
people of Baraboo wanted an
opera house, and their pledges
proved it” And so, in 1915, he
opened his theatre, ending the 10
year drought in culture in the city.
Of course he did not accept the
$4000 gift.

So who are the “City Fathers?”
If Sanderson’s account is correct,
it appears that we the public are
the city fathers! And do things

never change in small cities such
as ours? In 1997 we are having
fund raisers for the skating rink,
the swimming pool, and of course
the big one, restoration of the
Theatre. Future articles will con-
sider large benevolent givers, such
as Kate Hill, John and Murrel
Lange, and the Ritzenthalers.

The City spurns
the Al Ringling
Speaking of benevolent donors,
who can top Al. Ringling, whose
$150,000 investment in 1915
would be like a few million dollars
now. The interesting part is that he
intended it as a gift to the city, his
heirs offered it on June 28, 1917,
and the city spurned the offer!

A newspaper of July 5, 1917,
reported the proposed gift, stating
“The main stipulations are that the
playhouse retain its present name
. .. and that the proceeds be kept in
a separate fund (from the city’s).
The brothers do not desire that it
become a profit making institution
(other than to) keep the playhouse
in operation and repair.”

However, there were more stipu-
Jations, and on Nov. 1, 1917, the
city was advised by city attorney
VH. Cady that there were prob-
lems. The Ringling brothers want-
ed a five-man board, three mem-
bers of which would be of their
own choosing. None were to be
paid, and none could be over age
60. Ringlings were to have free

seats, and in case of fire the the-
atre must be rebuilt.












Cahoon Mine was once
a Principal Baraboo
Industry
Yesteryear Revisited

L By Bob Dewel

Next time you travel south
on the Warner Memorial Road,
glance to the right as you pass
the Baraboo Golf Course at the
foot of the hill. There is a new ball
diamond there, but notice a
couple of power poles that head
southeast across the open field.

Up to a couple years ago
you would have seen, in
connection with the power poles,
an old railroad bed, the tracks
long gone. They werg removed
in October, 1929. This was a spur
from the Northwestern line, and
went only about a mile, to a codl
mine. Indeed, if you drive a little
further south on Warner Road,
you come to Mine Road. [t
passes west and joins the power
line and remnants of the railroad
bed, beyond which are dense
woods.

It is in this wooded area
that there existed at one time
one of Baraboo’'s principal
industries, with a potential for
growth and high employment. It
was the Cahoon Iron Mine, which
existed from 1915 to 1919.

Thanks to a 1981 essay
presented to the Sauk County
Historical ~ Society by  Victor
Johnson, we have a fair amount
of information about this
enterprise, and indeed about

other mining operations in Sauk
County. As a young man,
Johnson had been an employee
at the Cahoon mine on three
different occasions, and thus he
can write with authority.

Johnson reports that the
mine had a perpendicular shaft
with a depth of 400 feet. A
horizontal shaft went from that
depth some 1200 feet to the
west, perhaps going well below
highway 12. Another shaft went
some 1100 feet to the east. There
was also an inclined shaft, with
four separate levels.

The owner was the Donner
Coal and Steel Co. of Pittsburg.
The company also held land east
of the current sewages disposal
plant, and under the present
Baraboo Golf Club

The Cahoon name came
from the previous owner of the
land, Asa Cahoon. He was the
father of Dr. Cahoon of Baraboo,
and of another son, Wilbur, who
according to August Derleth was
an Assemblyman from this area.

According to Johnson, the
iron ore was of very high quality,
possibly 62%. Unfortunately, the
area was also bountifully supplied
with ground water and artesian
wells, and two 1500 gallon pumps
were insufficient to keep the
shafts dry. Johnson says that
Wisconsin's hostility to the mining
industry was a determining factor
also, this being in the news yet
today with the Crandon mine
controversy. '

As a youth Johnson used to
watch the miners come out of
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U
ne Sauk County Villoge

Whai's the
between a mine and o guairy?
What does each produce¢ Why
villoge

» y
cliegedly renamed EBessemer for

o fime, and what doses Bessemer
meaane
The previous article deait ot

tength with the Cahoon iron Mine
in Baraboo, which operated from

1914 10 1919, Sauk County has ¢
history of many mining
operations, none of which are in
cperation today.  Qairying also
ras o history, and is o mojor

. tis the difference?
A guary is generally an open pit,

from  which grovel or siote or
quartzite or other surface
moternials are removed. The most

active cuirently is the Pink Lady in
thk Springs.  The gash in the
Baranoo Bluffs near the Butterfield
Bric 99 on highway 33 is a guairy,
O the three locations

nd so were
ai Devils Loke. A previous article
froced The history  of  thot

operation, active ground the turn
of the last “@Nuv..

A mine, on the other hand,

f\,ohocn mine A mine &xiwacis

~ ! . £ ~ PO U P

Minera or ore rom the Earrn, ond
o~ ~ b -~ - -

M S0Me Coses Can D& on open

pif, rather ihan a deep shaft
Cahoon  operation  ceased In
1919 due to grouna water anc
Owever, it wQs
company
50,000 tons of ore
en b ught up to
iouslty.  The rcil
gmov d on 10-24-1929.
A!efT readers

Alert reader Lorraine
Cummings of Reeasburg cailed
our attention o a humorcus error
in the arficle on the Cahoon
mine. We guoted the transcripl
of the Johnson speech s
localing the hospital af “the old
Mark Meany Appartments.”  The

Q

othar probiems.
1925 !:vefo;ﬁ the
shipped outt

whic xhdb

SpUr Wi

franscriber had inferpreted the
subsequent owner Ceorge

Martings noame as M
cnd we repedcied il

ark Meany

another  aiert reqder,
Harold  Krueger, lived near the

raifrocd  spur  and
hobos setting o boxcar on fire in

an afttempt ic get some hedt
He says the creek now in the goll

course ran red with ihe
pumped from the mine, and that
one time a pumpg was purpessly
disabled, apparently as a labor
orotest,
North Freedom

Noith  Freedom has «
history of three mines. The originai
settlement was named Bloom,
after a farmer who also had o

ﬂW’“”uh. in 7i\;/ J ””‘)U Qul“l(ﬂgpl +C

n - -
gloom  was  piatied s
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name was changed to Bessemer,
a famous name in the processing
of iron ore. The ion in fhe
Freedom mines was cf very high
quality, but was hard fo reach
and extroct.
Sauk
named  lronton,
because of the open pit
operation, which appears 1o
have begun in 1857 according o
Victor Johnson, who was quoted
in the previous articie. Up fo
50 men were employed at one
nearby blost furmnmacs
reduced the ore to pig iron,
which was transported 1o the
raifroad by horse and wagon.
LaRue
Mines in the vicinity of North
Freedom included the Iroquois,
which was one-fourth mile north
of the Kingenmeyer tavern in
LaRue on the east side of PF. i
operated until 1207, apparently
from o beginning in 1885, Only
1000 feet away was the Roberts
mine. The llinocls Mine was
located "back in the hills on ¢
stone ridge on the south side of
e
Victor Johnson, the source
of much of what we know of the
mines, was raised in La Rue, living
there from the turn of the century
until 1907.  He recalls that both
the  Effinger  and Ruhiand
pbreweries  of  Baraboo  had
saloons there. There was clso
general store operated by Lange
and Kanaus, and @ church on the
southeast part of the village. He
reports that there were a number
of boarding houses for the single

County has a village
SO named

IS
fime, A

@)
3
@)

operated by the
x‘/'\‘\de”e

miners, one
Pecarson family and one by

Young..

According fo Johnson, the
LaRue village was named affer
W.G.LaRue, who lived in Rock
Springs, called Ableman in those
days.. LaRue was an early
promoter of the mining
operations in the area, but was of
no relafion to the LaRues who
had the open pit mine at lronton.

Other than Johnson's
speech and a couple of pictures
and clippings, there is very little
information available on  this
industry  which was once so
important.  The Historical Society

urges anyone with pictures or

farnily memories to contribute the
same, or
the Museum.

copies of the same, fo
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When LaRue And Nortnh
Freedom Were Boom
Towns
Yesteryear Revisited
By Bob Dewel

A writer never knows which of his
articles will be of the greatest interest. |
get frequent calls and donations of
material from some stories, but | did not
redlly expect much from the two articles
on iron mining in Sauk County. Actually,
there was an outpouring of materidl,
much of which was not generally known
before.

Grace Stone

The first call came from Grace
{Chester) Stone, who has generously
donated a heavy duty aluminum lunch
bucket originally used at the Cahoon
mine, and then at the Powder Plant,
now known as Badger. Later it was used
at the car shops. It is said that the red-
coated miners, upon emerging from the
shaft threw their empty buckets in the air
in celebration of the end of the work
day. It can be seen at the Historical
Museum.

Wwith regard to the Powder Plant
days, Mrs, Stone recalls that Baraboo
citizens were urged to open their spare
bedrooms to plant workers due fo the
housing shortage, and that she cooked
and washed and did the banking for
some two dozen men in  her
neighborhood. Most of the men were
expert welders, but one who showed no
aptitude, but kept his job, was
considered to be a government snoop
or stooge.

Other contributors

Like most industries in the early
days, the Cahoon mine had a steam
whistle. Paul Young has the one from
the Cahoon mine, and it is now
mounted on the roof of one of the new
buildings at the Badger Steam and Gas
show grounds. Paul says that Dan
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Dingman, who lives on the old mine
property south of town, has a sign from
the mine. Earl Wichern added the
information that Victor Johnson, who
supplied much of the information we
used in the first article, was hospitalized
so long due to a cave in, and suffered
for the rest of his life with shoulder and
arm disabilities.  Mrs. Helen Grosiniski
remembers Dr. Cahoon and his little pink
fever pills, dispensed in his office over
the Woolworth building.

Howard Shale

Howard Shale, now of
Reedsburg, provided the most complete
information we have seen so far with
regard to the North Freedom and LaRue
operations. lis close location 1o the
mines made LaRue perhaps the fastest
growing village in the county at one
time. High quality ore had been found
in all three mines.

In an essay by Howard's Mother,
Margeret Shale, published in the
Wisconsin Sampler in 1983, she gives a
complete description of the Freedom-
LaRue scene shortly after the turn of the
century. Mining requires intensive
human labor, and the mining company
built a row of cottages as well as other
work buildings in LaRue. Because of the
water table problem, the men wore
heavy rubber boots and oilcioth suits.
There was an electric generator to light
the mines and operate the winch.

The iron ore had other uses, such
as red paint for barns and boxcars, and
even road materials. Mules were used in
the mines to pull trams along the
passageways. Men entered the mine on
the skips which had just been emptied
of ore brought up.

LaRue had a hotel, lumberyard
grocery store, two taverns, a blacksmith
shop, and a church, along with the
cottages pictured. Later a hardware
store and second grocery opened, as
well as a second hotel. It is unclear
whether these were all in LaRue, or some
in North Freedom. Howard Shale
remembers his father speaking of living









Canoeing the

Wisconsinin 1914

Wales of Earlier Bays
By Bob Dewel

OK. you outdoorsmen, how
about a canoe trip on the Wisconsin
River, from its source in Lac Vieux Desert
alf the way to Merrimac? Itis 1914, and
you have no radio for weather reports—
radio hasn't been invented. No global
positioning of course, but you hardly
need it on a river. There is no way to
make a 911 call even if you are
stranded near a farmhouse—they
probably don't have electricity or a
phone anyway.

But you are young and keep a
diary on this somewhat daring venture
shorlly after the turn of the century.
Well it all happened, and | have been
given that diary, written by a young
dental student, Clausen Stekl. Stekl later
became a WWI dentist, then came to
Baraboo to set up his practice in 1919.

In 1914, however he was
recovering from the then deadly
disease, Scarlet Fever. As he related it
“Three of us went (to a sanitariumj, and
two came back.” He was stricken early
during the semester at dental school,
and had to scramble to catch up on his
studies and practical dental work. He
was “a boy with the most yellow-green
color you can imagine.”

At summer break while visiting an
aunt in Minnesota he met Bill Schmidt, a
seasoned outdoorsman who was
looking for a companion to canoe the
Wisconsin.  Stekl took him up on it,
believing the outdoor air and exercise
would help him to recover his health.
They loaded their canoe on a train, and
persuaded the engineer to stop the frain
where it crossed the tiny stream up
north, and they quickly unloaded their
gear.

After a night on the bank of the
stream, they paddied upstream, not
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down, so as to reach the true source of
the river, as close as a canoe could get,
and this was at Lac Vieux Desert. To get
there they had to walk the canoe across
sandbars. Having reached the source,
they then turned around and began the
trip back downstream,

For bedding they used in turn
pine boughs, then twigs, then fern
leaves followed by a blanket. As the
days went on and their bodies became
hardened, they dispensed with the
bedding and simply scratched out a
place in the sand. Later even the tent
was left in the canoe unless a storm
threatened.

Stelkl writes that one night they
did pitch the tent due to threatening
weather. In the middle of the night, to
keep the tent interior from flooding, “we
doffed our shorts so they wouldn't get
soaked, and with improvised weapons
we scooped a trench around the tent
{in their birthday suits) to camy off the
water."

Sunburn quickly became a
problem, and they treated it with sweet
cream from a farm, which one can
assume quickly soured on their backs.
Schmidt was a keen student of nature,
and Stekl soon learned a number of bird
calls from him. Mink and Muskrat were
often observed going about their days
duties.

For food they brought along
potatoes, a slab of bacon, some
condensed foods that were available in
those early days, and coffee. This was
supplemented by fish and an
occasional duck. Sometimes “we had a
slumguliion of duck, bacon, potatoes,
and onions.” Bacon grease was used to
fry the fish and to “put on Bill's wonderful
flapjacks, which we often had for
breakfast.”

One night they tied their string of
fish to the canoe, but got a surprise in
the morning. "When | went to get the
fish, only the heads or the fish were left.
That is where | learned just what turtles
can do to a string of fish." One doesn't
think of the Wisconsin River as having






EARLY REFRACTORY DAYS
AT DEVILS LAKE

Yesteryear Revisited
By Bob Dewel

Memory has failed, but someone
has asked for two years for a story on the
American Refractory at Devils Lake.
Information has been hard to come by,
and pictures are rare, but some
information on what was once a leading
focal industry has emerged.

To begin with, refractory is a
word to designate - “obstinate,
unmanageable, difficult to meit or work,
resistant to heat or high temperatures.”
It refers in this case to the dense nature
of the quartzite rock of the Baraboo
range, exposed by the elements at
Devils Lake but also constituting the
underlying rock of the range. American
Refractory (later General Refractory)
refers to the mining company which
operated at the lake for nearly 70 years,
threatening the integrity and beauty of
the area. ‘

Short geology review

To understand the refractory you
should understand the remarkable
geologic area in which we live.
Scientists say our Baraboo range is the
remnant of a prehistoric mountain
range, which existed some one and a
half billion years ago. At their zenith, the
range rivaled the Appalachian and
Rocky Mountain ranges, which arose
later.

Everyone ought to view the story
as depicted in panoramic views at the
nature center at the lake. There you will
learn of a prehistoric sea which
stretched from the western Dakotas to
Michigan. Ken Lange gives good
descriptions of these events in his books
also.

What became the Wisconsin
River was a huge outflow of water from
that sea, strong enough to cut a
passage through the range in what we
know of as the Devils Lake cut. That
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powerful river, like the Colorado in the
Grand Canyon, cut a gorge to the
depth of several hundred feet below the
present bottom of the lake. Thus, with
the bluffs on either side, the gorge is said
to have been 960 deep, a torrent of
white water rapids.

Such was the situation when the
last ice age covered much of Wisconsin
with ice up to a mile thick. Then a most
remarkable thing happened. As the ice
approached the Devils Lake gorge it
developed two arms or tongues, one
approaching the gorge from the north
and one from the southeast.

All glaciers push millions of cubic
feet of soil, etc., ahead of them, and in
this case a fortuitous thing happened—
both tongues of the glacier stopped a
couple miles apart, each filling its end of
the old river gulch. When we drive in the
park, on either the North entrance or on
the Southeast entrance, we are driving
on that ground, called a terminal
moraine. Between them, occupying the
old river bed, is Devils Lake! Meantime,
as the ice receded, the Wisconsin River
cut a new channel to the east of the
bluffs, near Portage.

Quartzite

During all the geologic upheaval
and pressure, the sandstone of the lakes
became compressed into the extremely
dense and "unmanageable, not subject
to heat" quarizite. It is this material
which the refractory people saw as
valuable if they could make it into bricks
able to withstand the intense heat of
biast furnaces.

Even today, trains from the Pink
Lady mine at Rock Springs rumble
through Baraboo camying quartzite for
various purposes. Sauk County’s other
quartzite mine, on highway 33 at the
narrows, can produce similar quartzite.
The story of the American Refractory is
the story of how Devils Lake could look
like that gash in the landscape, had not
wise men intervened after the turn of the
century.
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The Devils Lake location for
mining the quartzdte was especially
attractive, for the Northwestern Railroad
not only passed beside the exposed
quartzite, but had actually removed
part of it so as to construct their
roadbed. There was little interest in the
environment in  those days, and
environmental impact studies were
unknown, "

Mining had begun before 1892,
well before the turn of the century, with

a group called the Devils Lake Granite |
Company, a misnomer for quartzite. This -

appears to have taken place in the
bluffs near the northeast corner of the
lake. A proposal te run a rail spur across
the Claude property to the west biuff
was, fortunately, denied by the Claude
family, who owned much of the north
shore areaq.
American Refractory Co.

As related by Lange and others,
blasting the bluffs and crushing the
material became a big business at the
Lake, All of the area was privately
-owned at the turn of the century, as the
State Park did not exist then. In 1907 the
American Refractory Company leased
more land, but in 1211 Devils Lake State
Park was formed from part of the land
by the lake, setting up a conflict
between the two entities that would last
for decades.

Efforts to buy the property
for the park at a reasonable price failed,
and blasting continued at the northeast
corner of the lake. The company leased
the Cliff House Annex for its employees
untit 1212, when a lease renewal was
denied. News items at the time bore
such 1909 headlines as “Devil's Nose to
be worked”, and, in 1919, “Quarry
People refuse to stop operations”. This
was in response to passage of a
legislative  bill  which  appropriated
$30,000 for purchase of the property.
American Refractory wanted more. By
this time their operation was at the south
end of the East Bluff.

During much of this time, the
Company had maintained offices in

downtown Baraboo “just west of the
Warren House”, so this was a downtown
Baraboo business, employing local
workmen. It was in conflict with the
state, and also with a local committee
supporting the park.

Apparently a large portion of the
population supported conversion of the
mostly privately owned property at the
lake to a public park. A 1921 news item
reports that a dozen new cottages had
been built near the old north end quarry.

. These were on leased land, and a battle

for renewal of the leases would ensue 50
years later—but that is another story!
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There's more to the Refractory -

story, to be published in a future article,
including interviews with some who
worked there.

Origin of the Name, Shadow Town.

Down on the way to deep Devil’s Lake,
Where three roads meet,
And birds sing sweet,
And oaks grow tall,
And deep shades fall;---
There Thompson's had
To make friends glad,
Their concerts free
Beneath the tree;
From that place came
Shadow Town's name,
Heard far and near,
Now many a year,
Down on the way to deep Devil's Lake.

The Shadow Town Co.

Jewelers and Opticians
Edison and Victor Dealers

109 OAK STREET BARABOO. WIS.







STATE WINS, AND THE
REFRACTORY MOVES

Yesteryear Revisited
By Bob Dewel

Continuing the story about the ;

American Refractory Co. at Devils Lake,
it will be remembered that the
legislature empowered Governor Phillip

to spend $30,000 to induce the

company to stop desecrating the

natural beauty of Devils Lake and move

elsewhere. However, the company felt
that $75000 would be a more
approprate figure. By now, some half a

million tons of quartzte had been .

removed and shipped away.

Attempts ot compromise had
failed in early 1917, the proposal being
for the company to move a mite or so
east of the south end of the lake. This
would involve considerable expense of
moving crushing machines, plus moving
the work away from the railroad. That
problem was to be solved by building a
rail spur near the present rail crossing on
the south shore road. The spur was to
connect with a narrow gauge railroad
from the new quarry, which crossed the
east exit road.

By now the state had brought
out its big guns, and the legislature
prohibited blasting within the confines of
a state pak, but the company
continued to blast away at the east bluff
anyway. Penalties were small fines, with
a possible jail sentence of 30 days, but
were never imposed. A 1919 legisiative
act empowered the governor to oust
the company completely from the areq,
but tempers cooled when additional

property further east of the lake was

purchased.
Problem solved

In 1920 the parties compromised,
the state agreeing to pay the company
the $75,000 it demanded for relocation,
and 1921 found news articles teling of
the move. The state received the former
mine property at the north end of the
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lake, plus the eight ' acres of
Shadowtown, . mentioned in another
aricle. Now began the laying of
railroad tracks for half a mile, plus the
namow gauge tracks, to serve the new
location of the quany.

‘ In an interesting sidelight, it ‘was
reported that they driled a well 285 feet
without ever reaching the bottom of the:
riverbed of the old pre-glacier river. A
similar well at the north end of the lake
had been drilled 283 feet deep, with the

-~ same oufcome

Blasting and shipping conhnued
for 40 years, yntil the company closed
the operation in 1967 If one heads east
from the south shore road, you can see
the tailings resulting from the blasting,
and be thankful that wiser men of that
early day were able to move the
opercmon away from the scenic lake.

Interviews

Alfhough 35 years have passed
since the mine closed, there are still men
in the area who worked in the mine, or
who lived in the company village as
children. This was a cluster of houses not
far from the mine, owned by the
company but leased to workmen. There
was No company store, however.

One such worker was Sebastian
Maddalon, the father of Bob Madalon of
Baraboo, and Bob was born in the
company village. He recalls walking to
highway 113, and on south to the
country school, where the Mem-macs
Campground is today. Children in later
years were luckier, for Bill Stoekman of
Rock Springs remembers. taking the -
children in a company car to the school.

Stoekman worked at the mine
while his father Ted was superintendent
of the operation. He has motion pictures
of some of the blasting, and ather views
of the operation. He says the mine
employed up to 100 persons at times,
including 40 during WWI, when the
material was used in steel plants. The
rock was shipped to Hfinois, where it was”
made into firebrick.

Company responsibility tfo ifs
workmen was primitive in those days,
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Patriotism in Sauk County, 1917 and Today

Yesteryear Revisited
By Bob Dewel

Are there any World War One (WWI) veterans still living in Sauk County2 That war
to “Make the World Safe for-bemocracy” ended some 87 years ago. Now, in 2005, our
President, in his Sate of the Union"Address, mentioned the words “free, freedom, liberty”,
43 times as our goal, but did not once mention the Irag conflict by name!

WWwIl and Irag

Like all wars, there are differences between the WWI and Iraq conflicts, but there
are also similarities, especially in the matter of public opinion. There had indeed been
vigorous opposition to our entry intfo WWI, and President Wilson had won the 1916
election with the slogan “He kept us out of war.” He defeated Charles Evans Hughes
with about 51% of the vote, the Electoral College vote being 275 to 244. This is
remarkably similar fo our 2004 election results!

Wilson's political slogan about keeping out of war, like so ma y pofitical promises,
was broken less than a month after his re-inauguration, with a declaration of war on April
6, 1917. The prospect of war with Germany was not popular, particularly in the upper
Midwest with its high percentages of German-related citizens. Even among non-
Gemans, there was strong pre-war opposition to “foreign entanglements”.

Here there is a difference, for opposifion to the war then was denounced as
unpatriotic, with physical attacks on persons and property where opposition was
perceived. A march for peace such as we recently observed in Baraboo would have
been unthinkable then once the war began.

Within the last few weeks an ABC News-Washington Post poll found ’rhcf “70% of
ifs respondents said, viz-a viz the speech any U.S. 'freedom’ gains in Irag had come at
the unacceptable cost of American and Iraq lives”; so reports the Washington Spectator.

War, too, has changed from 1917, when 116,576 soldiers lost their lives in just 17
months. We have had only about 1500 casuailties so far in Iraq, with thousands wounded,
about whom we are told very litile. "Only?"” Each casualty was a son or daughter,
father or mother, a sister or brother, husband or wife-—real people, not just numbers.
Countless thousands of Iraqi's have aiso died, dll of them real people aiso. Modemn
warfare is destructive beyond the imagination of those in 1917

Sauk County and Baraboo

Mayor Theurer's 1917 Proclamation called for a mass meeting on April 26 at 8 P.M.
at the opera house, obviously the new Al Ringling Theatre, for “all citizens of Baraboo
and vicinity”. it asks all businesses and residences to decorate in a patriotic manner. He
states “Let there be no lack of interest in this movement...show our duty an patriotism by
attending this meeting”.

That's not so bad, but at the meeting everyone was asked to sign a Declaration
of “absolute and unconditional loyalty to the government.” This is reminiscent of scenes
in some churches during and even after Prohibition, when pledges of abstinence were
passed down each pew, with your neighbors watching fo see if you would sign.

Mayor Theurer faced opposition in the next election, but candidate Bates was
careful to state that “He is intensely loyal to America and her allies, and never loses
(words missing , apparently ‘opposition to') Germany's silent allies in this country.” .

~ An article in another issue of the paper at that time has this headline: ‘Says
Wisconsin Germans are now on side of US." The story states that “The German language
newspapers and the few Prussian ministers in the small cities and towns are giving way to
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Baraboo's 21 were a Lucky Bunch

Yesteryear Revisited
By Bob Dewel

They're gone now, those eager young men of 1917 who set out on a noble
cause, to “Keep the World-Safe for Democracy.” By a guirk of the legendary fickle
finger of fate, 21 Baraboo boys were spared when their ship was torpedoed. Some 200
of their shipmates never made it alive to European soil, despite their being within sight of
Ireland. More on the torpedo attack in a moment.

The 107t Supply Train

Their unit was the 107t Supply Train, formed from the Wisconsin National Guard on
Oct 15, 1917, and comprising 6 companies plus a headquarters company. Thanks to
Capt. Oakley L. Parkhill of Fargo N.D., we have an excellent account of the Unit. His story
was printed in the News-Republic on Feb. 5, 1935, on the occasion of the National
Convention of the Tuscania Survivor's Association held In Baraboo that year.

The local group of 21 called their chapter the Last Man Club, or something like
that, with a bottle of whiskey saved and becoming the property of the last man to
survive over the years. Why such devotion to an army unit2 The thing that they had most
in common was that their ship, the Tuscania, was sunk by a German torpedo and all of
the "boys" from Baraboo survived. WWI soldiers were usually called boys, nor men,
another nickname being doughboys.

Local Soldiers in the 107th

Parkhill is a detail writer, and the names of each man in each company are listed,
including the 21 from Baraboo in various companies. Only one Baraboo man, Donald
Duncan, was lost later in Europe and that was due to pneumonia. By 1935 Parkhill listed
5 more as deceased in civilian life. They were Vemon Caflish, George Hatile, Arthur
Bender, Ralph Sanderson, and also Russell Brody, who had died of pneumonia shortly
after his return to the United States.

Those still living in 1935 were Richard Mahler, Wayland Kier, Edward Coughilin,
Horace Cahoon, Earl Veerhusen, Otto Bates, Otto Amdt, Earl Powell, Charles Kellogg.
John O'Brien, Randall Herfort, Herbert Steckenbauer, Paul Stewart, James Brady, and
Clarence Braun. Although he enlisted in Reedsburg, Arthur Thayer joined the group as
one of the survivors. The material in this article comes from the Braun family WWI
Scrapbook, and we thank them for the use of it.

Torpedoed!

Briefly, the 107t Supply train was organized in Camp McArthur, WI [no longer
extant), but with no trucks for their supply train! Immobilized for two days in a snowstorm
near Waco, Texas, they finally reached New York for embarkation after some 12 days of
on-again, off-again train travel. Because the ship assigned to them was not ready, fate
- decreed that they should ship on the Tuscania, a better and larger ship but therefore a
bigger target for the German submarines.

All men were ordered below decks for the Jan 27 departure, not being allowed
to even say farewell to the Stafue of Liberty. An exception was a few officers who had
portholes, but these were soon covered over for blackout purposes on the high seas. The
Tuscania joined a naval convoy at Halifax, Nova Scofia, and zig-zagged across the
Northem Atlantic, a maneuver familiar to all of us who crossed in a later war. This writer's
ship even crossed with no convoy escorting it.

" The Tuscania's crossing was uneventful and the coasts of Ireland and a Scottish
Island were visible, when without warning a torpedo from German U Boat 77 struck the
ship at 5:45 P.M. on Feb. 5. This was a serious matter, for the ship carried 2174 men and
119 officers, and was 650 feet long. It was struck slightly ahead of mid-ship, and very
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WWI Diary lists Familiar Hardships

@ales of Other Bays
By Bob Dewel

A previous article told of Dr. Clausen Stekl receiving the coveted French Croix d
Guerre for bravery in the First World War. The medal was sent to me recently by his
daughter, Marjorie Fancher of Columbus, OH, and she also included a franscription of his
diary during that conflict.

There are almost daily entries, despite sometimes difficult days, but what struck
this writer was the similarity between his diary and war experiences and a similar diary
which | kept some 27 years later, in a different war. It is curious that we both were
recently graduated dentfists, and both served in France. Both of us were based in Field
Hospitals (FH), now known as M.A.S.H units as publicized by the recent TV series. His was
the 150 FH of WWI, mine the 57th FH of WWIl. Both of us had detached service
assignments with combat units, his being infantry and mine being combat engineers.

We were stationed in similar and often identical areas of France at times, though
years and wars apart, Each of us was promoted to Captain, but here the war
experience changes, for | neither earned nor received a Croix d Guerre! It did happen
that | purchased Dr. Stekl's Baraboo practice in 1962, though neither of us was aware of
our common war histories until years iater. Incidentally, that practice was continued by
Dr. Konen in 1985, and thus will be 100 years old in 2019.

The Setting

It is impossible to re-create accurately the experiences of a man when reading
his transcribed notes 77 years later. Indeed, even a veteran with similar experiences
cannot do so, for each soldier has his own story known to him alone, with or without a
diary. Many veterans prefer not to dwell on the events of the past, and Stekl's diary is
reserved and circumspect as well. Rather than attempt to chronicle the day by day
events he alluded to, sometimes vaguely, we have elected to simply excerpt sentences
which any soldier who spent time in or near the “front"” in any war can relate to.

It might be explained, however, that as a dental officer we were expected to be
able to set up a functional if minimally equipped dental operation. The drill was
powered by foot, as in the old sewing machines, and light in the oral cavity might be
supplied by a flashlight held by the next patient. All, including the tin chair, could be
packed in 15 minutes into a small foot locker called a chest 60for a quick departure.

Local anesthesia was limited to extractions usually. Demand was usually high, but
during active periods of combat the dentist often worked with the physician in the aid
station rather than acting in a dental capacity. As any soldier knows, there were endiess
periods of “hurry up and wait,” and maddening indecision as to rapidly changing orders.
It is in this manner, that many of the Stekl entries were made, excerpts of which we
present herewith.

Some diary entries

The cold: There are dozens of entries reading "I nearly froze to death...damn
near froze...only one blanket tonight, expect to freeze...swiped a stove and some
wood...cold as sin at night...so cold | had to walk most of the way to keep warm™

The mud: "mud, mud, mud...nearly froze all day...all mud...this mud is a fright...18
inches of mud deep..."”

The food: "piece of bread for breakfast...beans, bean sandwich, can of saimon,”

The mail: “First mail in six weeks...no mail..."




Christmas Dinner: "Doesn’t seem like Christmas at all...soup, beans, pickles,
bread, butter pie, coffee...l set up a tree and decorated...gave gifts to children...|
wonder if we'll be dlive next Christmas”

Bathing: “Shaved in hot water first time in 6 months...Oh how dirty | am, wouid
give $10 for a bath and change of clothes...went over to a town, first bath in three
weeks...First tub bath | have had in 12 months”

Stress: “"Couldn’t go to sleep ‘fill late. Too much thinking...Had an awful case of
the blues tonight”

The Wounded: “wounds serious, but all with a smile on their face and a joke" {I
think he meant many, not all, from what | saw)

The officers: "The damn Lt. Col. of the new unit is raising hell...orders
countermanded, don't know where we are going..."

Disease: “"We slept in Boche {German) quarters and picked up beaucoup fleas
and cooties...went down to the delouser, got some underwear...this is a nice place but
full of cooties.”

Time: “Somewhere, sometime, and somehow out here rusticating, ! lost a day...up
at 4:30, left at 6 to go 30 kilometers, got there 8 hours later.”

Personnel: “A fellow | sleep near talks in his sieep all the time, and keeps everyone
awake."

New Year's Eve: "too sleepy to see the New Yearin"

Armistice: "At 8:45 came the word to cease firing at 11. Those were the longest
hours { have ever spent.”

Comment and Coincidence

| have not attempted to chronicle the battles, bombs and shells and trenches
endured by Stekl. Each combat soldier has his own story in that respect. Bur there is
another coincidence between Stekl and this writer besides those mentioned in the early
paragraphs. On Sept. 22, 1918 Stekl wanted to go to Toul, France, to get dental
equipment, but “Old Capt. McDonald gave orders | shouldn't.”

In my diary 28 years later, on March 14, 1946, a Capt. McDonald furned down my
requisition for additional dental equipment! Notice in both cases it is “Capt McDonald”.
Could it be, 27 years later, that the same bossy Capt. McDonald.....noooo----that's too
much of a coincidence!
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A Croix de Guerre
in Baraboo
Wales of Other Days

By Bob Dewel

This is a story I've waited forty
years to write. I've waited because of
the modesty of the man who was
honored with the French the Croix de
Guerre. | often saw the framed
certificate on the wall of his study, but
when | inquired, he only smiled. Now |
have the actual medal, old, and with
its Silver Star missing. | also have the
story.

No one who knew him would
call Dr. Clausen Stekl a retiring and
reserved man. His  dynamic
personality found expression in such
prestigious honors as Worshipful
Master of the Free and Accepted
Masons, Exalter Ruler of the Elks,
President of the Community Chest,
President and Lt. Governor of the
Kiwanis Club, President of the Dental
Society, District Commander of the
American Legion, Shriner, and Lt.
Colonel in the Wisconsin National
Guard. Not exactly your Casper
Milquetoast of the old comic strip!
Yet, as befits a soldier, he was modest
about this war honor.

He was an officer in WWI,
serving in the Dental Corps of the Army
from 1917 to 1919, and this is where
our story begins. Thanks to the
generosity of a daughter, Marjorie
Anne (Stekl) Fancher of Columbus,
Ohio, we have received not only the
Croix de Guerre, but other medals and
ribbons, plus a transcript of his war
diary. They all will find permanent
preservation in the Sauk County
Historical Society archives.

The Croix de Guerre
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So, what is the French Croix de
Guerre? It is an award somewhat
comparable to our Congressional
Medal of Honor, which was won in
WWII for example by Baraboo’s Beryl
Newman. Only 17 Wisconsin men were
awarded that medal for bravery
including Gen, Douglas McArthur. How
many received the Croix de Guerre in
either war is not known, but Clausen
Stekl was one of them.

The Croix de Guerre was
instituted by the French on April 15,
1915, to honor acts of bravery in the
face of the enemy, and was open to
men of all ranks of the armed forces
on the Allied side. There are various
types, and the Stekl award is bronze as
awarded by the army. When an
individual has been awarded a total of
five bronze battle stars, he is entitled
to have a silver star on the ribbon.

Mrs. Fancher included copies of
several War Department documents,
confirming Stekl's right to have not
only a silver star, but a fourrager, a
braided cord looped around the left
shoulder, as shown in a picture
accompanying this article. Clausen
was a First Lieutenant in Co H, 128t
Infantry, but also Dental Officer in a
Field Hospital, now known as M.A.S.H
hospitals.

The award

The award was made because
“On October 4, 1918, near Blanc
Mont, he assisted in taking care of the
wounded and in evacuating them
under an extremely violent fire, and by
his coolness and courage rescued the
wounded from a first aid station that
was subjected to a bombardment.”
Stekl’'s other battle involvements
included conflicts of WWI in Toulon-
Troyon, Chateau-Thierry, Soissons,
Marbache, St. Mihiel, Blanc-Mont









Baraboo youths burned
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German books

“Here lies the remains of -
German in Baraboo H.S. ‘18.”

So read the crudely let-
tered inscription on the pave-
ment of a street in Baraboo, -
accompanied by the ashes of
‘the’school’s German books.

You've heard the phrase
“Ban the Books in Boston?”
In Baraboo, on the night of
June 5, 1918, it wan not ban,
it was “Burn the Books.” As
the Baraboo Daily News
reported the next day,
“Pupils of the local high
school make a clean sweep of
German Language here.”

The paper reported that
early risers near downtown
Baraboo found a smoldering
fire at the intersection of
Oak and Second streets, the
co~ner on which the old red
brick high school at the time
was located. A small frag-
ment of the remains, still
extant, confirms that the fire
was fueled by German text-
books.

The news report is some-
what confusing, as it indicat-
ed that German books had
been removed “some weeks
ago” and kept in a basket in
the furnace room. The boiler
was in the charge of Hugh
Kelley, who said he had
shoved the books into the

fiery furnace at the time. The,

same basket was used to
carry remaining German
books for the midnight fire.
Why there were two groups
of books, one group of which
was spared being consumed
by Hugh Kelley’s furnace, is
not explained.

The Daily News did say,
however, that the school
board had earlier voted 3-1
not to abandon the teaching
of German in the schools, but
later reversed itself and
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. voted
unanimously
to “cast it out

... and the
boys have
done the rest.”
‘In the newspaper
style of the day, the
News duly reported
that “after E.B.
Trimpey, the photogra-
pher, focused his cam-
era on the pile of
ashes, the street PD.A.
(professor of dust and
ashes) came along with his
cart and removed the last
‘vestige of the night’s
prank.” ‘
Actually, the newspaper
did not treat the incident as
being very serious. People
were still talking about the
May 21 tornado which
destroyed much farm proper-
ty. Some telephone lines were
down, and a Lone Rock man
had been hurled 330 feet by
the twister — though no
—twister had been sighted!
Such was the local news in
June 918,

Background
Notice that date, 1918, and
you will realize that Amenca
'was in the height of action of
World War I, called then The
Great War, and things were
not going well..




Allied and German trench
locations remained essential-
ly the same week after week,
with barbed wire in the “no
man’s land” lying between
them. Over and over, each
side flung waves of its finest
young soldiers into the with-
ering fire of the opposing
‘lines, to no avail.

All wars are fought with
propaganda as well as with
armaments, and on the
Allied side the Germans -
were pictured as Huns,
Boche, and butchers.
Headlines in the Republic
read “Flower of the Land
Registers” (for the draft), and
reminded people to buy
bonds “For your boy or my
boy or for some other
Mother’s boy ... New York
fears enemy air raid ...
Torpedo sinks a transport ...
Keansas City woman guilty of
espionage ... D.C. Capitol
dome to be dulled to fool air
raiders.”

In Jowa, the governor had
already banned the teaching
of German, and the daughter
of Wisconsin’s Gov. Phillips,
who was himself a Sauk
County resident, had volun-
teered as a nurse. Not all of

Wisconsin’s residents were
as zealous, however, and a
local woman recalls that her
German neighbors would no
longer speak to their son
because he joined the
American armed forces.

In Milwaukee, the
Germania Herald dropped
the Germania name, and in
Madison the German
American Bank changed its
name to American Exchange
Bank. In Baraboo, the
German Methodist Church
dropped the name German,
and eventually merged with
the present First United
Methodist Church.
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. The secret

Such was the setting on
the night of June 5, 1918,
when the books were burned
on the streets of Baraboo.

- 'Who burned them? This
has apparently been a well-
kept secret for the past 81
years, and the perpetrators
are said to all be dead by
now.

We do know of someone
who knew the names, but he
too is gone. His correspon-
dence in 1985 with a Dr.
Juergen Eichoff of the
University of Wisconsin
German Department is pre-
served at the Sauk County
Historical Society. Eichoff
reports that the Baraboo
incident “is still being report-
ed and discussed in .
Wisconsin and national pub-
lications.”

Himself a fairly recent emi-
grant from Germany at the
time, Eichoff asks why books
would be burned “when nor-
mally they would be used
again the next year,” appar-
ently not realizing the war-
like atmosphere of 1918.
Eichoff says that his letter, at
the suggestion of Clark
Wilkinson, went to Art

" Schadde, Al Dippel, and

Lovey Stackhouse.

The reply

Clark Wilkinson's rather
cryptic reply to Eichoff con-
firms the incident, but
reveals little not already
known. He states that three
high school seniors did the
burning, one of whom had
been studying German, and
since they would be graduat-
ing in June, they would be
subject to induction into the
armed forces.









Sauk County Welcomes Home it's WWI Veterans
Yesteryear Revisited
By Bob Dewel

They really knew how to welcome a soldier back home after World War || Less
than a year had passed since some of the men had been engaged in trench warfare
and gas attacks in France. Now they were being feted on Honors Day in Baraboo.

The all-county celebration was held on Wednesday, September 24, 1919. The
Sauk County Democrat said that “there were flags everywhere. The business houses and
homes were beautifully decorated, the light poles were adorned with the colors, and at
the cormer of the principal streets were piliars of white. On main street, in large letters,
was the word ‘liberty’ . The great arch is pictured on this page.

There were acres of cars blocks from the business section, which was sectioned
off for the events and parade. Some 800 veterans participated, but 58 brave men of
Sauk County had given their lives in the conflict. At the Al Ringling, families who had lost
a soldier were given gold badges signifying their sacrifice. This was followed by martial
selections by the Baraboo Marine Band and a talkk by army Chaplain C.E. Batters.
Another ceremony was held at the court house also.

The parade, reported the Daily News, “was all that could be expected. Cars
(probably 1919 tin Lizzies) carried dignitaries, and the Baraboo Marine Band marched.
Some 400 servicemen were in uniform, passing under a huge arch....Civil War veterans
also participated, the latter carrying the banner ‘we are the boys of '61 and '65 * .

Among the floats were those of groups such as the Elks, K.C.'s, Epworth League,
and the Man Mound Club, which made a replica of the man mound made of straw.
Dozens of other floats and bands and clubs were so numerous that one wonders who
was left to see the parade.

The size of the event can be estimated by the fact that dinner at the fairgrounds
was served to 1500 veterans and their wives or sweethearts. A balioon ascension was
made there by a New York outfit, but at 4000 feet it tumbled over, losing its gas, so the
occupant came back to earth by parachute. It was the balloonist’s 188th ascension,
hopefully not always concluded by parachute.

Of note is the fact that the veterans had not yet formed organizations such as the
American Legion, VFW, 40 and 8, etc. A year later, in 1920, veterans organized a Labor
Day event featuring auto races and a stage show at the fairgrounds. The latter event
was staged as a Jazz Orgy by the Netgo Orchestra of Portage, and “proved very
amusing.”

Eventually veteran's groups were organized, and exist to this day, The 1919
veterans are gone, but veterans of other conflicts have taken their place. On Memorial
Day at 11 A.M. the fallen and departed veterans will be remembered by some people,
but the crowd at the 10:15 parade will be miniscule compared to the exuberance of
1919. A few caring souls will fly their flag. For some fallen soldiers, however, only the
tombstone inscriptions will remember, where men forget.

At one point the parade in 1919 apparently passed over the spot on Oak and
Second Street where, on June 5 of 1918, Baraboo High school boys had burned their
German textbooks, as noted in a previous article. One wonders if, among the crowds
watching the World War | soldiers and their parade on Honors Day, was a small boy
named Beryl Newman. In a quarter of a century he too would be a soldier. He would
become Sauk County’s only Congressional Medal of Honor recipient for valor on the
battlefield.

War remains the curse of mankind. Again today men, and now women, must
arise to defend their liberty and their way of life. The men of 1919 would understand.
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Big Traffic Problems in

Early Baraboo

Yesteryear Revisited
By Bob Dewel

With the addition of &'staplight at
the intersection of Broadway and Water
Streets, Baraboo is now a 10 stoplight
city. This is either a dubious honor or a
tfraffic necessity, according to your point
of view.

When this writer first amived on
the local scene in 1961, the city boasted
only one light, at Broadway and Fourth
Avenue. It appears, however, that the
number of stop lights is not proportional
to the growth of population. The city
has doubled in population since that
time, but the stoplights have increased
ten-fold!

The reason, of course, s
increased traffic due to more cars per
family, retail establishments spread all
over rather than concentrated in the
downtown distict, and increased
tourism. All of those factors add to the
need for traffic control by stoplights.

For example, it is hard to imagine

the intersection of Broadway and Eighth

Avenue without a stop fight controlling
traffic. The same is true of the
intersection of East Street, (County A)
and FEighth Street. The new lights
facilitate the efficient moving of traffic,
especially the new light at Broadway
and Water Street, soon to be a turn for
highway 113. Indeed, a light could be
helpful at Jefferson and Eighth Street,
which is an awkward traffic
" intersection.
The City Ordinance

Traffic regulation in a city
is traditionally within the purview of the
city council, and the newspaper of April
7, 1917 tells about a city ftraffic
regulation which was challenged in
court. It seems that the City Council
had passed an ordinance previously
which regulated the speed on the old
High Bridge. This iron structure, of which

we have written several times previously,
connected Oak Street, near downtown,
with Vine Street on the south side of the
river, By 1917 it had shown signs of age
and instability.

The ordinance, passed in 1916,
called for a maximum speed of 10 miles
per hours on the bridge, both for horse-
drawn vehicles and ailso for the
automobile. The latter were becoming
more numerous by this time, creating
problems between those with horses
and the auto owners and their gassy
and noisy vehicles.

Court Rules Against City

it is not clear who challenged
the ordinance. The city maintained that
it had the right to regulate speeds on a
bridge long before the automobile was
invented. Judge o'Neil ruled against
the city, however, stating “The court has
carefully considered the arguments by
counsel and the excelient brief filed by

the aftomey for the city....the

ordinance is in conflict with state
law...which prescribed a uniform rate of
speed with certain exceptions therein
provided.”

Apparently speed on city bridges
was not one of the exceptions. The
newspaper concluded that the judge
was putting bridges in the same
category as streets as far as speed limits
were concerned. The paper stated that
the city would appeal, believing that a
reasonable and proper fimit was within
its authority. :

Horse-drawn Fire Trucks?

If the bridge argument seems
trivial, consider the times. Only three
years had passed since Mayor Theurer,
in the 1913 annual Council meeting, had
advocated that the city purchase an
“aquto fire truck.” His reason was that
“For some fime we have been
hampered in securing teams {horses for)
fires, and while we have been fortunate

in not having any fires of great

consequence...it is high time this matter
betaken up seriously." The Mayor
quoted someone as saying that auto fire
trucks “are so perfected that they are
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thoroughly dependable” Other sources
indicate that the fire hose wagons, etc.
were drawn to fires only be the first team
of horses to amive at the station.
Imagine the delay as the wagon was
attached to the team and galloped
noisily to the site of a firel '
Traffic in 1933 -

There is other traffic: news. By
1933 an exasperated City Council held
a 'General housecleaning of traffic
signs, voting fo “remove the stop and go
sign at the bank comer, and to remove
the ‘turtle’ keep-to-the right signs in the
city." These objects in the center of an
intersection, about the size of an
inverted round dishpan, often provided
a jolting bump to passengers in both
cars and wagons. At that time it
appears that highway 12 passed
through downtown Baraboo, turning left
onto Fifth Avenue, right on Angle Street,
., then onto Summit Street and thence
west on Eighth Avenue.

We are indebted for part of this
article to Bud Cady, who retains ‘
extensive scrapbooks made up by his
grandfather, Virgil Cady. Cady was city
attorney during some of the above |
events,
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From Indian Trails to Superhighways 1840-1960

Yesteryear Revisited
By Bob Dewel

imagine you are a traveler in newly formed Sauk County in 1848-that's 157 years
ago! You'd probably be walking, or riding a horse—the trails were too rough for any
vehicles except the stagecoaches. Most were Indian paths, suited best for foot travel.

in his Sauk County history booklet, August Derleth tells of one such fraveler, Moses
M. Strong. At one point he encountered a boy, and inquired as to which road he should
take. The boy replied “About two miles above you will see a fork in the road. You can
take whichever you please, but whichever you take, you'll wish you had taken the
other.”

Stagecoaches

We have written in the past about one prominent stagecoach driver, Prescott
Brigham, who also was a tavem owner, and sang in the church choir. Many coach lines
connected the Baraboo Rapids settlement with Portage, Kilbourn (Wl Delis), Mazomanie,
and also to Madison via a ferry at Menimac, spelled Mermmack in those days.

The fare is said to have been $2.50, and the coach would probably be camying
mail and money, making the trip potentially hazardous. Schedules were subject to
change at no nofice. Brigham is said to have made only weekly trips to Baraboo,
sometimes fortnightly in winter weather. The Wisconsin River not was bridged at Sauk City
until the mid 1850's.

Life was not all that easy for a stagecoach driver. According to a short Sauk
County history on the county web site, “severe cold was hazardous to stage coach
fravel, and it is recorded that a driver of a stagecoach from Portage to Newport was
found frozen to death {in his seat}. The horses reached their destination, and the
passengers were safe, {but horrified).”

Roads improve

More developed parts of the country had frains, and Sauk citizens longed for the
day when the raifroad would come. Lines had brushed the county at Spring Green and
for a short distance at Kilbourn. It would be 1871 before the Northwestern line would
make a passage through the rather formidable bluffs to Baraboo. As is offen the case,
credit and thanks for the railroad are due largely to the volunteer work of local citizens
organized as the "Baraboo Airline Company.”

Trails became dirt and sometimes gravel roads, winding and sometimes abruptly
hilly, but traversable by horse and cariage. 1t took the amival of the horseless carriage at
the tum of the century {1200) to create the demand for smooth hard surfaced highways.
A few autos were even produced in shops in Baraboo and Portage, until local
construction was preempted by mass production in Detroit by Ford and others. The
demand for highways remained, and the huge project of paving the nation’s highways
was begun.

In Sauk County, as noted in the previous article, there was competition as fo
where such highways would go, and funds were raised to influence the state, haro-
pressed for funds. As we saw in the last article, highway 12 might have come over the
bluffs on what is now the South Shore Road had one group been able to raise sufficient
funds, but instead crossed the bluffs at its present location. The eventual result was
bypasses of Baraboo, a severe blow to business in the days of the Depression.

With the advent of highways came the need for fraffic control, and the county
web site says the first squad cars are said to have had sirens operated by hank cranks.
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(Guy Glazier ¥
| Tells Of Old\
B Pavmg Her

'/}~/2—

"Reading of the recent work _of
' paving which is going on’in Bara- !
boo reminded me of the first pav-
ing that was ever “dciie T There

writes our 6lq Triend, Guy 0. Glaz-
ier of LaMesa, California A Tormer ||
resident of Buraboo, Mr, Glazler
still ‘keeps in touch with his home
tcwn through his Barabos paper,
other readers of which greatly en-
joy his letters from time to time, Iny;
speaking of the paving he says:

© “I wonder how many there utre |

in Baraboo who remember it for it
was nearly 50 years ao. The block

on thé south side of the -courthouse

park on THIrd street” (now Third ! :

avenu;) ‘was paved with white ced- |

': “But 8s thele i3 nlways e ttle |

it good wind along with a bad breeze i
'that little joke -made good ‘skunk'

l I; trapping along down thebluff’ for
« H, H., Porter for several years. For
r'Hite would always work at any~
thing there was a “cent” in} ./

“Another little striped: story or
Bmaboo history was when a couple

revival ~meetings “The
jMorrell Twins” were getting- along

language was hot as choicz as men

-in this cloth should have used,
| some thought. So & couple of little
;“slnnenrs", one night threw a skunk
 through a window and that was the
iend of the revival, at least so says
ICaptam Howard of San Diego, for-'
mexly of Baraboo.

H
1
i
!
{
[
1

ar round blocks, about’?"ﬁi“’ﬁ‘s;

surfaced street. They were set as
closely as possible together and:;
chinked in between with sand. That |
was just a trial block but I wonden}
how long did it last?"

Mr. Glagier includes a photo-
graph of himself for the oddity
window, the < picture having been

taken when he stood in th2 famous,
ald Picture Frame tree at S-kyland,'! .

5,000 feet up in the mourtains a-

bove San  Bernardino, California.}

Miss Hattie Gei:, who has a sum‘-j
mer cottage in a delightful penic
wrove of stately pines nearby, tcok
:he picture of Mr. Glazier and ths

:ree, an okl dead sugar pine fromfi,

vhich has grown in the form of 2,
Jerfect square, and with even a.
wtch to hang it up by an the up'
yer part.

Mr. Glazier who still op2ratesthe
Prading Post at La Mesa also in-
tludes a clipping about a skunk
‘arm, apropos of which he writes:

“An item in the San Diego Union -
his morning about a skunk farm
1p near Hollywood just reminded,
ne of & skunk farm that some en-'
erprising young business men of:
laraboo som® years ago SLRTTEd out |
1 Fajrfleld, just east of Leach lﬂke{
n the woods. They bulilt a stockadq
[ boards about six feet high and:
hree feet in the ground and ad-|
ertised fo buy all,the live skunksl
he boys would bring them. Well!
hey bought up about 100 skunks’
nd were getting along fine when!
smeone must have objected to the.
titerprise, for one morning thexe
ppeared a large hole in the fence
nd all the striped little “ktttnes"l
ere gone. i

|
1
.

[

<
&
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«
)

! of mmlsters came to town to hold.
Reverend,

(l fine, bringing sinners in. But their:
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Epidemic once led to closing

of Baraboo churches, schools

Suppose you heard today
that some government
bureaucrat had ordered all
the theatres closed?

Moreover, what if he or she

also ordered all schools
closed? And all the churches
were ordered closed too! Time
for a revolution?

Well, it happened in
Wisconsin and Sauk County
82 years ago this fall, and
there was hardly a whimper
from the theatres and schools
and churches. There was even
a widespread campaign to
urge compliance. Se much for
the much-vaunted indepen-
dent spirit and freedom from
government regulation that
we sometimes attach to the
old days.

The epidemic begins

There was good reason for
compliance. All fall the story
of the influenza epidemic had
grown, from an occasional
short note on the second page
of the paper in the beginning
to front page headlines by
mid-October.

It was an emergency that
would kill 8,459 people
statewide and 20 million
worldwide before it was over.
More Americans died in the
six months of the epidemic
than were killed in World War
I, the Korea War, and the
Vietham War put together.
Only World War II and the

Civil War had more casual-

ties, and they lasted for four
years.

There was no “flu shot” in
those days. It would be 15
years before the virus would
even be seen by an electron
microscope. The only way
known to fight the spread of

the virus was to limit human-
toe:human, contact, and the.;
only agency that could enact .

and enforce comphance was
the government.

In Wisconsin, the edict
came from the state depart-
ment of health and its direc-
tor, Dr. Conelius Harper.
These were the days of the
great Progressive movement,
which held that government
was capable of benevolent
management of many human
affairs. It was a fortunate
time for Wisconsin, for our
epidemic management far
surpassed that in most other
states, according to a recent
article in the Wisconsin
Magazine of History.

Our state met the crisis
skillfully, it says, and had one
of the lowest death rates in
the nation, thanks to an
extensive health infrastruc-
ture. Every town, village, and
city had a health board and a
public health officer Making
the edict easier was the disci-
pline of wartime, as well as
the popular Progressive
movement at its zenith, with
its doctrine of faith in govern-
ment,

These were also the waning

days of World War 1, and suc-

+zss in that venture was more
newsworthy than the silent
epidemic, though in the-long
run the epidemic ended up
wasting more lives by far
than did the war. All eyes
were focused on the finally
successful troop movements.
It would be a victory that
would unknowingly bring a
flawed peace and the seeds
for World War II, thanks in
part to a conservative
American Congress. The mis-
ery of displaced millions in
Europe was also the perfect
breeding ground for a virus
that mutated from a normally
mild affliction to a lethal med-
ical emergency.

Sauk County
The news began innocently
enough, but by Sept. 24, 1918,
the Baraboo News saw fit to
publish an eight-inch column
on how to avoid the new sick-
ness, not yet recognized as an
epidemic. The advice in that
dark age of medicine included
suggestions to chew your food
thoroughly and avoid tight
clothes. More appropriately,
readers were also advised to
smother their coughs and
sneezes, avoid crowds, and
breath deeply of fresh air.
The war still commanded
the news, however, and the
paper stated that 350 Yankee
airplanes had hit the foe.
Planes were still of the open
cockpit type in those days, the

first war in which airplanes

were employed In Chicago; 4
youth had been fined five del-
lars and costs for singing “Die
Wacht Am Rhein,” a patriotic
German song. The charge was
disorderly conduct. Another
headline read “Kaiser or Son,
same to U.S.” apparently the
result of a report that the
hated Kaiser would abdicate
in favor of his son.

Nov. 2 incidentally brought
cessation of all brewing of
beer in the United States, the
beginning of the ill-fated
Prohibition amendment to
the Constitution. Some had
hoped that the coming
Armistice might delay the
proclamation so that there
could be an alcoholic celebra-
tion of victory, but the News
said they would be disap-
pointed. Somehow the stock

on hand would be sold, but

the News opined “After that,
what?”
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thoeluhland company was dorced 1o
clse on uccount of poor business wnd
finances. A muajority of ﬂ(L citizens
hope Lthey will never brew ]nludr.mtp

apain, Jv
CThe breweries have o ; rge stock
on hand and this will now be sold.
Aftef that what? ' i

(ITY CHURGHES
SUNDAY SERVICES

”‘ First® Mcthpdlut Epjscopal
i “ Clarence ‘E. Weed, Pastor.

’g\"lme we would g‘ladly meet” Loy’ﬂl-b
£r to EXPress, the praise and thanks-
siving with which our heartg’ are
filled, we cheerfully. eooporate. with

the henlth deparfment - of our city.

Lét us “remember the Sahbath day to
kce_p it boly,”: by directing onr

thonghts toward our heavenly ¥ath gr
and_choosing ouf Feading T and bu#s_v,-

ing oursalves. S0 Tthnl . at lhe day’s.
dgme We may may hnve :grown to be more

-n«-«»

Uie Him. -1d these must’ momentous
haursBince the coming of Jesus Chrigt
w6 ought to walk humbly hefore our

d, sincerely Jbraylng  in  thought,
wérd nndfactlon that"He will contin-
u‘ o give direction and power to Lhe
congtructive forces of the world. The
greatest task ever entrusted to man
{5 now ours. ‘Muy we seek the oo
ther's blessing and worship thue.Lord
in spirft and in trith.

HEALTH BOARD
N FULL FORGE

Schools and Theaters. Shut Their
Doors; Public Meetings Called
Off Ji-W -8

NO CHURCH SERVICES
TO BE HELD SUNDAY

Step Taken Believing Preventive
Better Than Cure---Children to
Remain at Home I s

With the proclamation of the state
board of health (_fosmg the churches,
schools, theaters und publlc” meetingﬂ
of ail kinds, where It was thought ad-
visable, the Baraboo board of health
has tuken action. There wlill he no
more public mectings in Barahoo un-
U aTte - Tiotice,  This means the-
atres, cliurche B, :»chooli clubs and s0-
cial ;.;A[‘[T«_Txmga There urec many cases
of Inflienza in Madison, Milwaukes
and other places, although the digease
has not fnvaded this region m.anv
grcu extent.

‘Schools Close
')t The Barahoo puT)H_c”bcb_g_o_ll_c_]gs_e_d
on Thursday cvefing. ~ All children
. UTAGer sixteen years of 'Tg—rmnst ro-|
main at “Tome unless they }mve 4 per-
“mil from the health of'ﬂCer

“The Baraboo board of health con-
sisty of A. P, Cheek, A. Judevine an
H. ¢ Graff. Dr. L. W, Sayles {8 the

h(;;lll.h officer.

It is easy for us today to dis-
miss the influenza epidemic
of 1918 as predating the mir-
acles of modern medicine, but

Despite the reopening of the
theatre, a Methodist
Episcopal Church notice on
Nov. 16 showed it to still be
closed, though “we cheerfully
cooperate with the health
department of our city”
School, however, resumed on
rbaut Dec. 1.

By Dec. 15, 1918 a patriotic
service was reported at the
Advent Christian Church, so
the ban apparently had been
lifted in the interim. The
paper was still warning citi-
zens to avoid crowds.

lurking in the wings today
may be similar scourges such
as AIDS, the Ebola virus, and
the West Nile Encephalitis
recently in the news. The
question remains whether
our population will be as coop-
erative as the good citizens of
1918 were.
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So you think you know Baraboo?

Where is the

Warner Memorial Road?

By Dr. Bob Dewel

Historian Robert Dewel has had
a long-running love affair with the
City of Baraboo. In his research he
has sought out and publicized men
and women over the last century
and a half who have made signifi-
cant and unusual contributions to
the city, from stagecoach driver
Preston” Brigham to John and
Murrel Lange. :

This account takes us back to
1914 and the days before there
was a road between Baraboo and
Devils Lake.

Quick, now, you long-time
Baraboo residents, when was the
last time you drove on the Wamer
Memorial Road? For that matter,

where is the Wamer Memorial

Road?

Yes, Baraboo has Ringling and ‘
Gollmar avenues, plus streets .

named after the first five Presi-
dents — but none, unfortunately
named after Benjamin Franklin.
There are also streets named after
Lincoln and Taft. But Warner
‘Road? ,

Well, Wamner Road, dedicated in
October, 192[, was a gift to the
Town of Baraboo. providing a
direct link from Baraboo to Devils
Lake. We know it now by the mun-
dane designation of Highway 123.

Warner Road was among the

first concrete roads in the State,
and includes its State Park exten-
sion all the way to the Chateau,
where a brass plaque can be seen.
Additional plaques can be found
on pillars on either side of the road
near the present Baraboo city lim-
its.
And Warner, who was he?
Wilbur William Wamer was not
even a local resident, though he
had been raised in the area. Fifty
years later he put a clause in his
will allocating $40,000, a huge
sum in those days, to the Town of
Baraboo for a “‘concrete boulevard
from Devils Lake to Baraboo.”

For thirty-
eight years
Warner had
owned a
piano  and
phonograph
store m
Madison, but
as a youth
was a mining
and gold
prospector in

The north entrance of Devi :
was the destination of the‘Wamer Memorial Road.

Colorado. He
left Sauk
County at the
age of 11,
going to Co-
lorado by ox
team with his
parents.

The Bara-
boo  Daily
News of 1921
tells how
Wamer and a

close friend, O. D. Brandenberg,

. while - motoring

to Baraboo,

remembered that a very prominent
Baraboo business leader, wifeless

Sun photo by Haroid Willis

Is' Lake State Park

and childless, had
left nothing to the
city in his . will,
‘The News, appar-
ently  quoting
Brandenberg,
reported the con-
versation: “What
could he have
done?” inquired
Wamer casually.

“Left enough
to build a con-
crete boulevard
from Devils Lake
to Baraboo.”

“What would
it cost?”

*Oh, © say
$10,000 a mile.”

“Three miles.

. $30,000,” mused

Warner, “and
something more
for maintenance .
.. $10,000.”

And so, when a
year or two later
the Wamner will
was read, it was
found to contain a
legacy of $40,000
for the lake road.
Wamer had put
his money where
his heart was.
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Ochsner Park area might have been a hospital

Abe Wood, Dr. Ochsner and
Ochsner Park

By Dr. Bob Dewel

This is the fourth in a series of
articles about major benefactors

of the Baraboo area.
There is no record that Abe

Wood ever shot a bear or a wolf on
his property in the 1840's.

He might be surprised now to
learn that a bear and a wolf are per-
manent residents on what used to
be his land.

Abe Wood

So if this is a story
about Ochsner Park,
where does Abe Wood
come in? Well, it is hard
to talk about the park
without referring to the
first resident on the
land. Abe was not only
the first resident of the
future Baraboo, but per-
haps the most colorful
character in our history,
and the first dam
builder.

Abe arrived on the
scene in 1839 and buil*
his ramshackle 12 -foot-
square cabin where
Ochsner Park is today.
The tall woodsman with
the very large head and
six toes on one foot had
a Native American wife,
and had been an early

trapper in the area, then “on the
outer fringe of civilization.” His
nearest neighbors were in Portage
on the east, where Abe killed a
man, and Sauk City on the South,
where he killed a bear.

Abe Wood

The irascible Wood, along with
Wallace Rowan, built the first of
the many dams that have been an
integral part of this city, a heritage
now threatened despite their his-
torical and esthetic significance.
Abe’s dam washed away in 1844,
but it was soon replaced.

From “Abe Wood" by Cole



Eventually a dam of Frank
Lloyd Wright design graced the
head of the rapids, and was
removed with great difficulty some
twenty years ago. It had allowed
boating all the way to North
Freedom, traversed now only by an
occasional canoe. Three dams con-
tinue to serve the city, withstand-
ing with ease the great deluge of
July 1993.

Other settlers had followed
Wood, and his lawless character

.frequently brought him in conflict

with the frontier law. He once dug
his way out of the local jail. He
barricaded himself in the Western
“hotel” after threatening the local
land agent, and he also threatened
historian Canfield. When unable
to find the latter, he destroyed Mrs.
Peck’s entire picnic table of china,
a rare possession on the prairie.
Wood and three others, known
as the “Baraboo Rushers,” once
swam to and commandeered a

Mississippi steamboat, overpower-
ing the crew with their tomahawks,
knives, and revolvers. For the
“rémainder of the trip the Baraboo
Rushers had their own way.”
When his wife left him to rejoin
the Indians in 1850, Wood appar-
ently abandoned his log cabin on
what is now Ochsner Park. When
his daughter married at a young
age, Wood “shut his son-in-law
up” for a time. Abe died in 18585,

The Ochsner Story

Erhart Mueller has published an
85-page booklet on the remarkable
Ochsner families, and the follow-
ing comments are taken from his
chronicle. No: doubt descendants
live in the county today, many with
different names due to marriage.
During the last half of the 19th
century, the name was prominent
and for a time ubiquitous,

There is no way that Mueller’s
detailed account of the Ochsners
can be summarized. Suffice to say.

that these brilliant and hard-work-

ing Swiss immigrants and descen-
dants rose to preeminence nation-
ally in the medical and other fields.
Mueller lists 26 medical doctors,
for example, and there are several

inventions credited to them.
Moreover, there are local land-
marks associated with the family,
such as Nature Conservancy areas.
In addition, there are close connec-
tions between the families and
such greats as Owen Gromme,
Aldo Leopold, August
Derleth, and the Dr.'s Mayo
in Rochester, Minn. There
are also connections to the
present day Farm Kitchen

and Barn restaurants.

There seem to have been
three major families, some
in Honey Creek, some in
Bear Valley, and some in
Prairie du Sac. The first
group had the most connec-

- tion with Baraboo, where
the five children wege edu-
cated despite their residence
in Honey Creek. Their
Swiss immigrant father had
learned English by reading
German and English Bibles
together, page by page.
Most of the family were
associated with the
Freethinkers movement in
Sauk City.

The Ochsner Park
Property

There is some confusion as to
how Ochsner Park became part of
Baraboo. By 1883, the Honey
Creek patriarch, Henry, had moved
to Baraboo, building the red brick
home now in the park. He died in
1889, followed by his wife in
1891. Erhart Mueller states, “In
1895, the Ochsner home and 12
acres of land in west Baraboo were
deeded to the city, now Ochsner
Park.”

However, he later states, “In
1911, Dr. Albert J. Ochsner offered
to donate the Ochsner homestead,
now known as Ochsner Park, to the
City of Baraboo for an up-to-date
hospital on condition $50,000 be
raised . . .” This effort failed, and
the $15,000 that had been raised
remained invested until 1929,
when it was given to St. Mary’s
Ringling Hospital, then a frame
building on 10th St. It was 1945
before a modem building such as
envisioned by Dr. Ochsner was
built.
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To confuse the issue even more,

another source states, “In 1918, Dr.
Albert Ochsner donated his share
of the Ochsner homestead to the
city on condition it would buy the
other Ochsners’ interest in the land
for $3400.” 28 acres were involved

in the park eventually,

News reports from 1918 and
1919 may clear up the mystery, for
it appears that the 1895 and other

.donations of land did not include

the red brick home until 1918. The
property was occupied for many
years by the Campbell family, both
before and after the 1918 donation.
In 1919, the park was dedicated,
including the “new bandstand,”
from which the Baraboo Marine
Band “gave their best,” according
to the paper. It was presumed the
Park would retain the Ochsner
name, as “it has been known as the
Ochsner Park for some years.”

Dr. Albert Ochsner
It seems obvious that Dr. Albert

Ochsner was the driving force

behind the donation. This Honey
Creek son of a Swiss immigrant
had risen to international fame in
his chosen profession, medicine,
contributing many research papers
and inventing surgical instruments.
For his funeral in 1925, special
railroad cars brought friends and
associates from Chicago, some 60
‘persons in all, and Dr. Mayo of
Rochester spoke at the funeral ser-
vice.

The crowd of 500 mourners
swamped the Denzer area. An idea
of the Sauk County roads of the
time can be noted by the warning
of the News-Republic: “It is about
25 miles to Denzer, or over an
hour’s drive.” Dr. Ochsner is
buried in Honey Creek in the
Freethinkers Cemetery.

A fine marble bench dedicated
to his memory was later “removed
by those whose ideals were not of
the high caliber of Dr. Albert J.
Oschner.” A monument to his
memory was dedicated in the park
on July 7, 1972.
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